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Corporate Profile £ & f§ 7

CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

manufactures and trades garment products for internationally
renowned brand names and engages in securities investment. The
Group has production facilities in Mainland China.

Headquartered in Hong Kong, Carry Wealth Holdings Limited has
been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited since 2000.

The Chinese name of the Company means “enduring prosperity”.

The Group is committed to maximizing the return of its
shareholders for their ongoing support.
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Corporate Information A & & 1

Executive Directors

Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (Chairlady) (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Choi Tan Yee (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Jiang Jinbo (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Ms. Chen Jun (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (appointed on 1 July 2022 and
resigned on 1 February 2023)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Wang Ke (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Tianzi (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Fan (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Peng Peng (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Shiming (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Yu Ping Ming (appointed on 1 August 2022 and
resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (resigned on 1 August 2022)
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Corporate Information A & & &l

Audit Committee
Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (Committee Chairman)
(appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Tianzi (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Fan (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)
(resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Shiming (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Yu Ping Ming (appointed on 1 August 2022 and
resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (resigned on 1 August 2022)

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Wang Fan (Committee Chairman)

(appointed on 1 February 2023)
Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Wang Tianzi (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Committee Chairman)

(resigned on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Wang Ke (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Shiming (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Yu Ping Ming (appointed on 1 August 2022 and
resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (resigned on 1 August 2022)

4 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1% HRAE]

BZZE8Y
BRELE (EEELE)
R —EFE_=ZF_H—HEZT

//J\EF%EE
R ZE_=F_F—HEZH)

FREE
R —EFE_=ZF_H—HEZT

BxBRE (EEEL/E)
(R =T === F— AR

F RIS E
R —E-=ZF_F—HFT)

FERPBEE
R —E - —F/\A—HEZFR
R -ZEFE =~ F—HFE)

SRIRESLE
R =FEZ—FN\A—HFT)

WMEEE
INEE (EEEZE)
(KT == F—ARE)

Bk £
R —E_=ZF_F—HEZT)
BREELE
R —EFE_=ZF_H—HEZT
TARERE

R —EFE_=ZF_H—HEZT

BxBRE (EEEL/E)
(R =T === F— AR

FRAE

(R -—&E - =4 H—HEFT)
FHBEAeE

(R -—&E - =4 H—HEFT)
RE|BELE

R —E_—F/\A—HEZFR
R -IEFE-—=F— F—HFE)

SRIRESLE
R =FEZ_FN\A—HFT)



Corporate Information ‘A B & ¥}

Nomination Committee
Mr. Wang Tianzi (Committee Chairman)
(appointed on 1 February 2023)

Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Wang Fan (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)

(resigned on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Shiming (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Yu Ping Ming (appointed on 1 August 2022 and
resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (resigned on 1 August 2022)

Investment Committee
Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (Committee Chairlady)
(appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Choi Tan Yee (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Li Haifeng (Committee Chairman)
(resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Ke (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Company Secretary
Ms. Lam Wai (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Ms. Or Yan Tung (appointed on 24 May 2022 and
resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Chan Pak Hang (resigned on 24 May 2022)
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Corporate Information A & & &l

Authorised Representative
Mr. Choi Tan Yee (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Ms. Lam Wai (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Li Haifeng (resigned on 1 February 2023)

Ms. Or Yan Tung (appointed on 24 May 2022 and
resigned on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Chan Pak Hang (resigned on 24 May 2022)

Auditors

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House
311 Gloucester Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Ltd

China CITIC Bank International Limited
Standard Chartered Bank

Principal Share Registrar and
Transfer Agent

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

4th Floor North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Agent in Hong Kong

Tricor Abacus Limited

17/F., Far East Finance Centre,

16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Registered Office

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
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Corporate Information A & & i}

Head Office and Principal Place of Business in

Hong Kong
Room 7801-7803,
78th Floor, The Center,
99 Queen’s Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2180 0001
Fax: (852) 2122 9773

Legal Adviser As To Hong Kong Law
HANS

Room 802, 8/F., LKF29,

29 Wyndham Street, Central,

Hong Kong

Website
www.carrywealth.com

E-mail Address
info@carrywealth.com

Stock Code
643

Board Lot Size
10,000 shares
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Financial Highlights B4 #%#8 &

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY AEMFEHE
Results e

Year ended 31 December
HE+-A=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“EICE T ZIZ2ITF ZT-NF ZZ2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
F#Ex FET FET FET FATT

Revenue Wi 499,024 441,171 290,515 331,722 328,513
Loss attributable to KRB ERFBA

equity holders of the 1L 18

Company (7,625) (19)  (15274)  (14.825)  (50,615)
Assets and liabilities BEREE

Year ended 31 December
H#E+_-_A=+—HILEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
SFIDF T ZFIEF AR ZTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FT#ET FET FET FAET FAET

Total assets mEE 254,726 289,225 246,256 229,940 243,015
Total liabilities maE (118,305)  (140,880)  (107,004) (78,635) (82,261)
Total equity R 136,421 148,345 139,252 151,305 160,754
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Financial Highlights Bt 751 &
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Financial Highlights Bt 5 #8 &

2022 2021
“EZZE —E”_—F
HK’000 HK’000 Changes
FEx FET BLEE
Operating results REXE
Revenue U & 499,024 441171 13.1%
Gross profit EH 80,223 61,088 31.3%
Loss attributable to KANBERITFEA
equity holders of the Company FE{h E5 18 (7,625) (19)  40,031.6%
Financial position at year end M EELZ BRI R
Properties, plant and equipment ENN =Yk 59,081 69,874 -15.4%
Cash and cash equivalents IR & K IR1TAE BR 95,686 97,546 -1.9%
Net current assets MENEEFE 85,319 85,630 -0.4%
Total assets WEE 254,726 289,225 -11.9%
Bank borrowings IRITEMR 33,333 64,989 -48.7%
Total liabilities FEE=R= 118,305 140,880 -16.0%
Capital and reserves attributable to RABERFR ABMN
the Company’s equity holders ZEXRKH#E 136,421 148,345 -8.0%
Per share information sREXR
Basic and diluted loss per share BRERN KR EREIE
(Hong Kong cents) (&) (0.93) - -100.0%
Capital and reserves attributable BRAXRABEE
to the Company’s equity holders BFEAEBLZER
per share (Hong Kong cents) et (BL) 16.7 18.1 -8.0%
Ratio analysis LEER T
Profitability BFKF
Gross profit margin EVIlES 16.1% 13.8% 2.2%
Net loss margin FEEE -1.5% 0.0% -1.5%
Return on the Company’s KRBT IFEA
equity holders Bk -5.6% 0.0% -5.6%
Liquidity TRENAK N
Current ratio mEIEEE 1.8 1.7 9.3%
Gearing ratio BREELE -31.4% -18.0%  N/A R#EH
Operating efficiency REN =
Inventory turnover period (days) FERE (A& 45 48 -5.2%
Trade receivable turnover (days) B W FIE A
(B8 29 32 -8.1%
Trade payable turnover (days) B EMRIESHE
(B2 30 40 -24.2%

10
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Chairman’s Statement T E##R%E

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

In 2022, the global economy experienced a sharp increase in
inflation pressure, where central banks of major countries led
by the Federal Reserve System continued to raise interest
rates, together with other unfavorable situations such as the
continuous war between Russia and Ukraine, the repeated
COVID-19 pandemic and the supply chain crisis. As a result,
according to the latest data issued by International Monetary
Fund (IMF), the global economic growth declined to 3.4%
in 2022 after a 6% increase in 2021, with China’s economic
growth expected to be 3% in 2022, restrained by the rapid
spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, while India’s economic
growth in 2022 was expected to remain strong at 6.8%.
China and India together contribute more than half in terms
of the driving force of global economic development.

Looking ahead, China and the United States, two major
economies, play very important roles in the global economic
recovery. In particular, since 2023, driven by positive factors
such as China’s full relaxation of anti-epidemic policies and
reopening of its borders, the easing of the supply chain
crisis, the improvement of the global fight against inflation,
and the faster-than-expected adjustments of the energy
market to the impact of the Russia-Ukraine war, the world
economy has gradually emerged from the recession.

Despite the resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic,
geopolitical and economic and trade tensions and
policy uncertainties, the revenue of the Group’s garment
manufacturing and trading segment from the United
States market increased by 23.8% to HK$313.9 million
for the year, reaching a total revenue of HK$499.0 million,
representing an increase of 13.1% year-on-year compared
to HK$441.1 million in 2021, thanks to our sales team'’s
tremendous efforts to minimize the impact of the pandemic
on profitability in the face of the current difficulties.
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Chairman’s Statement T [E#R&E

Regarding the securities investment segment, most of the
gains from securities have been realized and will be used
for our business diversifications, with the principal goal of
generating sustainable long-term returns. Segment loss
totalled HK$5.0 million versus a segment loss of HK$4.9
million last year.

Our openness to explore new opportunities has enabled us
to diversify from our traditional business, and we are actively
exploring and investing in new businesses that show good
development potential.

GOING FORWARD

According to the IMF’s latest announcement, the global
economic forecast for this year tends to be more optimistic,
with the global economic growth rate this year rising to
2.9% from the previously expected 2.7%. In China and the
United States, the Purchasing Managers’ Index (PMI) for
both the manufacturing and service sectors have rebounded
sharply since China adjusted its anti-epidemic policies last
November. Under the Chinese government’s main tone of
emphasizing the economy and maintaining growth, China’s
economy is expected to grow by 5% to 5.5% this year,
much higher than 3% in last year. The U.S. economy has
shown full resilience so far this year, with inflation declining
and the unemployment rate remaining at a low level, and
the IMF predicts that its economy will grow by 1.4% this
year, avoiding a recession. In addition, growth in emerging
markets and developing economies is expected to rise
slightly from 3.9% in 2022 to 4% in 2023.

Under the vision of global economic recovery this year, we
will continue to actively explore and develop the European
and American markets related to our garment manufacturing
business. At the same time, we are also paying close
attention to the healthcare industry in different regions
of the world, with business diversification as one of the
directions of our corporate development. On the equity
investment segment side, we will continue to monitor the
market and replenish the portfolio as appropriate. With our
strong financial position, dedicated staff and experienced
management team, we are confident that our long-term
sustainable development will be achieved.

/I 2 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1% HRAE]
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Chairman’s Statement T [E#R&E

APPRECIATION

At this time, | would like to extend my sincerest appreciation
to my fellow directors and the entire Carry Wealth workforce
for their commitment, diligence and contributions to the
Group during the past year. | wish to also express my
gratitude to all of our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their unwavering support.

Ma Xiaoqiu
Chairlady

31 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW

The Group’s principal activity is manufacturing and trading
garment products for internationally renowned brand
names. The Group utilizes its production facilities in Heshan,
Mainland China, and engages overseas subcontractors for
its manufacturing process.

In addition, the Group has a securities investment business
segment that trades securities listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Concerning the volatile stock market, the
Group continues to adopt a conservative investment strategy
during the year.

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue
amounted to HK$499.0 million (2021: HK$441.2 million), and
gross profit totalled HK$80.2 million (2021: HK$61.1 million).
The increase in revenue and gross profits for the year was
mainly due to the rise in customer orders and sales volume.
Loss attributable to equity holders was HK$7.6 million (2021:
HK$0.02 million), and basic and diluted loss per share were
both 0.93 HK cents (2021: 0.00 HK cents).

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW
Garment manufacturing and trading segment

The COVID-19 Pandemic (“Pandemic”) continued to impact
how businesses were operated in 2022. The emergency
of the Omicron variant led to renewed restrictions and
lockdowns in early 2022. Meanwhile, the global economy
continued recovering from the Pandemic and many countries
experienced growths in their gross domestic product as
they continued to reopen their economies and implement
stimulus policies.

Global brands had placed more production orders compared

with 2021. Thus, the segment revenue increased by 13.2%
to HK$499.3 million (2021: HK$441.1 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis & IE

The US and Europe regions remained the predominant
geographical regions of our garment manufacturing and
trading business and contributed 84.0% (2021: 84.3%) of
segment revenue, which amounted to HK$419.6 million
(2021: HK$371.8 million).

We have continued allocating customer orders to our
subcontracted factories in South East Asian countries,
including Cambodia and Indonesia. The contributions from
products from South East Asian countries increased to
63% (2021: 47%), and our Heshan Factory contributed the
remaining 37% (2021: 53%).

Although the Group still faced rising raw material prices,
the transfer of production to South East Asian countries
has led to a higher profit margin in sales. Lower labour
costs and overheads are two competitive advantages
compared to manufacturing the same goods in Mainland
China. Furthermore, the supplies of international shipment
containers and freight cargo space have gradually returned
to normal, which has lowered the logistic costs for raw
materials sourcing. As a result, the gross profit margin of the
garment manufacturing and trading segment has increased
to 16.1% (2021: 13.9%). Nevertheless, the segment has
recorded a decrease in segment profit of HK$5.6 million
(2021: HK$13.8 million), mainly due to increased finance
costs caused by interest rate hikes and administrative
expenses.

Securities investment segment

The ongoing Pandemic adversely affected the investment
market, tightening monetary policies implemented by central
banks and geopolitical issues. As a result, the Hong Kong
Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) gradually fell from its highs in the
first quarter throughout the year and closed at 19,781 points
on 31 December 2022 (2021: 23,397 points). The HSI
fluctuated between 14,597 points and 25,050 points.

The Group continued to adopt a conservative investment
strategy for 2022. The securities investment business
recorded a fair value loss of HK$0.4 million (2021: HK$0.06
million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis & IE

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Administrative and other operating expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses increased
52.5% to HK$76.5 million (2021: HK$50.2 million), mainly
due to increase in certain operating expenses concerning
the Pandemic and business expansion.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses ratio to garment
manufacturing and trading revenue decreased to 1.9%
(2021: 3.2%).

Finance expense

Finance expense increased 147.9% to HK$4.5 million (2021:
HK$1.8 million). The increase was mainly due to the rate
hikes on interest expenses on borrowings.

Other income and gains

During the year under review, other income and gains
amounted to HK$2.2 million (2021: HK$4.9 million), mainly
from customer compensation and government subsidies.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Adhering to a conservative financial management
methodology, the Group maintained a healthy financial
position. As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents were HK$95.7 million (2021: HK$97.5
million) and no deposits were pledged to banks to secure
short term loans. Working capital represented by net current
assets amounted to HK$85.3 million (2021: HK$85.6
million). The Group’s current ratio was 1.8 (2021: 1.7).

Bank borrowings comprised term loans of HK$33.3 million
(2021: HK$65.0 million), which were repayable within one
year. The bank loans were denominated in Renminbi.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & IE

Capital Expenditure

For the year under review, the Group incurred a total capital
expenditure of HK$2.2 million (2021: HK$2.8 million), mainly
related to relocating the headquarter office in Hong Kong
and replacing obsolete office equipment for the Heshan
factory.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s sales are principally transacted in US dollars.
With a factory in Mainland China and offices in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, the Group’s operating expenses are
primarily settled in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, and US
dollars.

As the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the US dollar,
exposure to US dollars foreign exchange risk is minimal. The
Group will closely monitor the fluctuation of the other foreign
currency exchange rates and, if necessary, enter into foreign
currency forward contracts to reduce such fluctuation risks.
As at 31 December 2022, there were no the outstanding
forward contracts.

Credit Policy

Consistent with prevailing industry practice, the Group’s
business was transacted on an open account basis with its
long-standing customers during the year. The credit ratings
of customers are constantly reviewed and their respective
credit limits will be adjusted, as and when necessary.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s land use rights of
HK$8.0 million (2021: HK$9.1 million) and buildings of
HK$47.7 million (2021: HK$57.7 million) in Heshan, Mainland
China were pledged as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
contingent liabilities.

the Group had no
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Management Discussion and Analysis & IE

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group provides a harmonious working environment to
employees whose commitment and expertise are critical
to the long-term success of its business. The Group
offers employees rewarding careers and provides them
with a variety of training programs aimed at enhancing
their professionalism. It rewards employees according
to prevailing market practices, individual experience and
performance. To attract and retain high caliber employees,
the Group also offers discretionary bonuses and share
options to staff members based on performance of the
individual as well as the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s had 488 full-time
employees (2021: 491).

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards
to ensure sustainable development of its business.
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s
environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”) strategy.
The Board is responsible for ensuring appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems to
mitigate ESG-related risks and meet stakeholders’ needs
and expectations. The Group’s ESG management team
is assigned key responsibilities, including monitoring the
implementation of ESG strategic plans, alerting the Board
of any potential ESG-related risks, reporting to the Board
about the effectiveness of the ESG system and reviewing
stakeholders’ needs and expectations.

A full 2022 ESG report is being prepared with reference to
Appendix 27 of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide pertaining to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), and
will be published on the Group’s and the Stock Exchange’s
websites at the same time as the publication of the 2022
annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 /@ 51 3% & 2 4

OUTLOOK

2023 will continue to be challenging for the Group
concerning risk factors that affect the global economy.
Geopolitical risks, such as energy disruption from Ukraine-
Russia and Sino-US trade tensions, are expected to
influence the economy significantly. Since the US is the
major geographical location where our goods are exported,
we plan to reduce our production scale in Mainland China
and allocate more production orders to Southeast Asian
countries to cope with geopolitical risks. Correspondingly,
such a transfer may lead to downsizing in the Group’s
manufacturing facility at Heshan. On the other hand, we will
also look for the opportunity to engage new manufacturing
partners in other regions.

Global inflation is also crucial as the rising consumer price
index pressures the business environment. Therefore, central
banks are expected to increase interest rates further to
control inflation, increasing the burden on our business via
higher interest expenses. However, the monetary policy may
be gradually loosened, followed by the recent bank crisis
(including the collapses of Silvergate Bank and Silicon Valley
Bank). Our management will closely monitor the ongoing
changes and adjust the financing activities of the Group
accordingly.

As the markets gradually reopened from the Pandemic,
retailers have been more conservative in sourcing and
maintaining their inventory level amid macroeconomic
headwinds and concerns about a potential economic
recession. It is observed that order demand from our brand
customers has turned more conservative. Nevertheless, our
staff will continue to try to maintain customer orders.

To improve efficiency and meet customer requirements,
capital expenditures in advanced manufacturing machinery
and equipment with modern technology are expected to
incur in the coming year.

Regarding the securities investment business, the Group will
continue to take a cautious approach with uncertainties in
the stock market.

We will continue focusing on our existing garment
manufacturing and trading business. We will monitor the
impacts of the macroenvironment factors and adjust the
Group’s operation strategies accordingly. The Group pledged
to seek and evaluate every opportunity and will strive to
achieve long-term sustainable growth to maximise returns to
its shareholders.

Al 5

TECZH AR ERREENRERRA
EMs ~EESESEERKE - FE5t
iU B (W05 e B — A& B B9 At
BT RPEE SRR &l E TR
ERELEREERFR -ARNEAS
HPIEREH O EZ2FrEM > IS
NN PBERENEERE TRES
WEETEDEMARPEEEK UEY
i BUS R R o IR IE M > BRIER K E
HNAEERSUDHEEREEFTA
DoeFZ—FE ZFTRSHREEEE
@R REBH S 1F

HREEYEBES LASERRIES
RS 2ICERTARERER - FE5t
RITHBE—FMEUZEFBER > LEE
RBEREeNMERNIE—PNER
PINZEFBEE AT BELIANIET
et (8 ¥ESilvergate Bank& B A IR1T
(Silicon Valley Bank)fIF) » BB A
EEZRTRR BEEEBRERYERE
BNEEFH T ERAEAERNMETE
@JO

BEMHERBEPEZNER £REL
BEEARNEETRLERBNEET =
EBEMBSEMRBEREFTEFENK
FoEEHR HMAmBERHIEEK
BESBAFRT BEWIL  HMANE
THREES HERERIETE

PMEBUERmES P EBR BEIRK
FREAFBARMNTERSHE K
REBETEEEETERRZ

MESKREEBMS &R KRH A
Bl AEBEREERIEERRE

RERE BFIREEEINHFERE
AR RENEBZEH - PR EER
REREAENTETHBRARELE
Ay E SRR o AN & B K EE B R K sl
BEKE TREZSHNERRMAFENE
R URERRERRARBIR -

Annual Report 2022 FERE ,I 9



Corporate Governance Report

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of all
shareholders of the Company and to enhance corporate
value. The Company continuously reviews and improves
the corporate governance practices and standards of the
Group to ensure that business activities and decision making
processes are regulated in a proper manner.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied
with all the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the year
ended 31 December 2022, except for certain deviations as
explained in this Annual Report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, Biographical
information of the Directors is set out on pages 44 to 51
of this Annual Report. The Board is led by the Chairlady
and currently comprises five executive directors, and four

independent non-executive directors as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (Chairlady) (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Choi Tan Yee (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Jiang Jinbo (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Ms. Chen Jun (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Tianzi (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Wang Fan (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Peng Peng (appointed on 1 February 2023)
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Corporate Governance Report ¥ & A&

The Board possesses a balance of skill and experience
which is appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Group. A balanced composition of executive and non-
executive directors also generates a strong independent
element on the Board, which can exercise independent
judgement effectively and make decision objectively for the
best interests of the Company.

Save for those as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
Biographical Details” as set out on pages 44 to 51 of this
Annual Report, there is no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
among members of the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, four Board
meetings and one general meeting were held. The
attendance records of directors are set out on pages 31 to
32 of this Annual Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Li Haifeng has assumed
both the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board is of the view that the balance
of power and authority is ensured by its operations which
comprises experienced and high caliber individuals with a
highly independent element. As at the date of this Annual
Report, Ms. Ma Xiaogiu serves as the chairlady of the Board.
Since the resignation of Mr. Li Haifeng as, among others,
the chief executive officer of the Company on 1 February
2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report, the position
of chief executive officer of the Company remains vacant.
The responsibilities of the chief executive officer are taken up
by Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony, an executive Director. The
Board believes that this arrangement enables the Company
to make and implement decisions promptly, and thus
achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently. The Board also
believes that the Company already has a strong corporate
governance structure in place to ensure effective oversight of
management.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors representing one-
third of the Board with at least one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise, which is in
compliance with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
All independent non-executive directors have confirmed
their independence during the year and the Company
considers that they are independent in accordance with the
independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Appointments and Re-election of Directors

The Board is empowered under the Company’s Bye-laws
to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual
vacancy on or as an additional member of the Board. The
selection criteria are mainly based on the professional
qualification and experience of the candidate and the
recommendations of the Nomination Committee. Each of the
directors has entered into a service agreement or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of not more than
three years and is subject to termination provision therein
and provision on retirement by rotation of Directors as set
out in the Company’s Bye-laws. A newly appointed director
must retire and be re-elected at the first general meeting
after his/her appointment.

At each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third
of the directors of the Company for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation. Every director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The directors to
retire every year will be those who have been the longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment. In the
upcoming annual general meeting, Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu, Mr.
Tsang Chun Ho Anthony, Mr. Choi Tan Yee, Mr. Jiang Jinbo,
Ms. Chen Jun, Mr. Wang Tianzi, Mr. Wang Fan, Mr. Cheng
Wai Hei and Mr. Peng Peng would retire and be subject to
re-election.
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Board and Management

To enable all directors to make informed decisions in
the Board meetings and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, appropriate, complete and reliable
information prepared by the management are provided
in a timely manner. All directors are kept informed on a
timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s
business, including relevant rules and regulations. To
reinforce independence, the Board and each director
can have separate and independent access to the
management of the Company if additional information is
required. To further assist the directors to discharge their
duties to the Company, the Board has also established a
written procedure to enable directors to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses.

In order to have a clear principle in relation to the matters
specifically reserved to the Board for decisions, functions
between the Board and the management are formalized.
The Board has established a written guideline determining
which issues require a decision of the Board and those
delegated to the management. Matters reserved to the
Board for decision include the making of significant financial
and legal commitments, mergers and acquisitions, material
asset acquisitions or disposals, the change of share capital,
the approval of financial reporting, budgeting, management
succession and representation to shareholders. The
management is responsible for the day-to-day running of
the Group. The management is required to submit reports
on the operations to the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board on the development of
major projects or business proposals and their respective
implementation. The Board is of the view that such division
of responsibilities can enhance the corporate governance of
the Company.

The Board considers that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of directors and delegated the
corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee which
include:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company;
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e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e {0 develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To develop and refresh the knowledge and skills, all directors
have participated in continuous professional development
and provided the Company their training records for the year
ended 31 December 2022 which are summarized as follows:
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Read materials and/or
attended seminars on
responsibility of directors
and other relevant topics

REAMESHAER

H{tBREENER R

Directors - L EEAHAE
Executive Directors HITESE
Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (appointed on BN+

1 February 2023) R _E_=F_F—HEZHT) N/A &
Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony FR&E

(appointed on 1 February 2023) (R-_E_=ZF_H—HEZT) N/A i B
Mr. Choi Tan Yee (appointed on ﬁﬂi?ﬁﬂi

1 February 2023) (/7\ T ECCF_F—HEZF) N/A & A
Mr. Jiang Jinbo (appointed on /E?EEE

1 February 2023) (iA_ E_—F_H—HEZT) N/A &
Ms. Chen Jun (appointed on RELZ T

1 February 2023) (K ZE_=F_F—HEZF) N/A “~iE A
Mr. Li Haifeng (resigned on %/ﬂfﬂ?ﬁéE

1 February 2023) (K —FE_=F_F—HFF)
Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (appointed on & EEH4E

1 July 2022 and resigned on (RZEZZFtH—HEZAER

1 February 2023) R CEC—F T H—HEFT) v
Non-executive Director FEHITEE
Mr. Wang Ke (resigned on Eﬂf‘EéE

1 February 2023) (R ZEZ=F_—F—HFE) v
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Read materials and/or
attended seminars on
responsibility of directors
and other relevant topics

REEMESEHER
HtARMEENER R~
Directors BE AR S
Independent Non-executive BUIFHITER
Directors
Mr. Wang Tianzi (appointed on EARERE
1 February 2023) (W —E_=F_F—HEZF) N/A 58
Mr. Wang Fan (appointed on FiNEE
1 February 2023) (R ZEZ=F"H—HEZF) N/A & B
Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (appointed on ~ BRB{E 44
1 February 2023) (K ZE_=F_F—HEZF) N/A 3 A
Mr. Peng Peng (appointed on ZHB T E
1 February 2023) (W —E_=F_F—HEZF) N/A 38
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (resigned on ERK¥BST A4
1 February 2023) (R ZEZ=F"H—HFHT) v
Mr. Wang Shiming (resigned on FHEELE
1 February 2023) (R _—E_=Z4#F_H—HFHE) v

Mr. Yu Ping Ming (appointed on
1 August 2022 and resigned on
1 February 2023)

Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (resigned on
1 August 2022)

RERAXE

R—ZE_—F/\H—

HEZEK

RIE-_=ZF_—H—HEFET)

RIRESE

(R —F/\F—HEFT)

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors of
the Company, all directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions during the year.

Details of the directors’ interests in the shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2022 are set out on page 52
of this Annual Report.

EFESFRS

XRBERMN—ERFREFETSR
RZB2TR/TAHRERERER
FHRANESR TS EmETAE
FETHEFSXZHNIRESTH] (W?iﬁ—r
Al - REAARBELBESELHETE
uﬁjfﬁ %Eﬂi%ﬂeaﬁwu’ﬂﬁ\ E\EW
ERERETAREAABREHESRE
TEFIRBZITRATAFRBEZRER
#Eo

BERESEN - _F+-HA=+—
BEEEARBARNZEmZFIBEEH
RAEFEREHEE2E °
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The Board has also established a written guideline on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for employees
of the Company or director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries or holding company who are likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Group or securities of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company in 2022.

Directors’ Liability Insurance

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged by the
Company in respect of legal action against its directors and
officers of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Board set up the Audit Committee in 2000 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The terms of reference of Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of the Audit
Committee include reviewing the Group’s financial reporting,
the external auditor’s independence, risk management,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and
making recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (Committee Chairman), Mr. Wang
Tianzi and Mr. Wang Fan, all Audit Committee members are
independent non-executive directors.

During the year, the Audit Committee held three meetings
and the attendance records of members are set out on
pages 31 to 32 of this Annual Report. The major work
performed by the Audit Committee during the year included,
amongst other things, the following:

e making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of the external auditors

and approved their terms of engagement;

e reviewing the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

2 6 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1% HRAE]
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e reviewing the change in accounting standards and
assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial
statements;

e reviewing the interim and annual financial statements and
the related results announcements;

e discussing the risk management and internal control
systems with management including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions;

e overseeing and monitoring the operation of Risk
Management and Steering Committee (“RMSC”) such as
reviewing the quarterly and annual report or any ad hoc
report;

e reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and made recommendations to
the Board; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

Remuneration Committee

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in 2005
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of
Remuneration Committee, which was updated on 30
December 2022, are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of
the Remuneration Committee include assessing performance
of executive directors of the Company, reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management,
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of all directors and senior
management with reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time and
ensuring that no director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four
members, namely Mr. Wang Fan (Committee Chairman),
Ms. Ma Xiaogiu, Mr. Cheng Wai Hei and Mr. Wang Tianzi.
Except for Ms. Ma Xiaogiu who is an executive director, all
Remuneration Committee members are independent non-
executive directors.
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During the year, no meeting was held by the Remuneration
Committee.

The major work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year included, amongst other things, the
following:

e making recommendation to the Board in relation to
the remuneration package of Mr. Tsang Hing Bun and
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu;

e making recommendation to the Board in relation to the
remuneration of Directors and senior management of the
Group; and

e making recommendation to the Board as to the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of each of the directors was determined
in accordance with the remuneration policy. The main
principles of remuneration policy of the Company are:

e to retain and motivate executive directors and senior
management by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against corporate objectives;

e to align executive directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration with shareholders’ interests; and

e to ensure that no director or senior management or
any of his associate is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

When fixing the remuneration packages of executive
directors, considerations have been given to the
qualifications and experience of the executive directors,
their duties and responsibilities with and contributions to
the Group, the level of executive directors’ remuneration
of other comparable listed companies in Hong Kong, the
Group’s performance and the prevailing market condition.
The principal elements of the remuneration packages of
executive directors of the Company include salary, director’s
fee, double pay, discretionary bonus and share options.

Details of the remuneration of each director, on a named
basis, are disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 119 to 120 of this Annual Report.
Reimbursement is provided for out-of-pocket expenses
incurred (including traveling and hotel expenses) in
connection with the performance of directors’ duties.
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Nomination Committee

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in 2012
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy, formulating,
reviewing and implementing the nomination policy, selection
criteria and nomination procedures for identification,
selection and nomination for the director for the Board’s
approval and making recommendations to the Board on
appointment or re-appointment of directors.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four
members, namely Mr. Wang Tianzi (Committee Chairman),
Ms. Ma Xiaoqgiu, Mr. Cheng Wai Hei and Mr. Wang Fan.
Except for Ms. Ma Xiaogiu who is an executive director,
all Nomination Committee members are independent non-
executive directors.

During the year, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee and the attendance records of members are
set out on pages 31 to 32 of this Annual Report. During
the year, the Nomination Committee considered and
made recommendations to the Board for the appointment
of Mr. Tsang Hing Bun as an executive director of the
Company. Apart from that, the major work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year included, amongst
other things, the following:

e to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board;

e to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive directors; and

e to consider and make recommendations to the Board
on the re-election of Directors at the annual general
meeting.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
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In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

The Board currently has two female Directors out of nine
Directors, achieving the gender diversity of the Board at
approximately 22.2%. The Board targets to maintain at
least the current level of female representation. The current
arrangement and structure of the Board of the Company
is appropriate for the development need of the existing
business operation of the Group and is conducive for
providing the Company with extensive valuable advice
and supervision on decision-making. The Company will
continually assess the gender diversity of the Board and
objectively consider the composition and effectiveness of the
Board for the 2023 financial year.

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy which
sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures
to identify, select and recommend candidates for directors.
When evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships,
the Board will consider criteria include the board diversity
policy, qualifications, character and integrity and such other
perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

Investment Committee

The Board set up the Investment Committee in 2014 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The primary role of the Investment
Committee include reviewing and approving the investment
policy and monitoring the securities investment business as
it deems proper to meet the latest development of the Group
or changes in the securities market.

The Investment Committee currently comprises of three
Directors of the Company, namely Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu
(Committee Chairman), Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony and Mr.
Choi Tan Yee.

During the year, one meeting was held by the Investment
Committee and the attendance records of members are set
out on pages 31 to 32 of this Annual Report. The major work
performed by the Investment Committee during the year
included, amongst other things, the following:
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e reviewing the investment policy including objectives and °
strategy that direct investment activities;

e overseeing investment activities of the Group and o
controlling the associated risk levels to assure adherence

to the investment policy; and

e monitoring the performance of the investment portfolio °
and considered the re-appointment of the external

investment professionals.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance of individual Board member in Board
meetings, Board Committees meetings and general meeting
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the table

below:

BRRERR

Z BRI R RES

BEESIRERY

EEAERZREEHRIEFIERM

LB A2 LU R

ERKREY

EINRBREFEM -

£

No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held

SEREBR; &

BZREKREREME

EFREZEETMAZHELR

BE_ZT__HF+"_A=+t—HL=EF
E-BNEFERENEFSE
ELECERERRIARGZHELR

TEENE

==

HE/ BTEERY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Investment
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EXggE BRZEGEE HNMZzEe ;E RAZE® 3 REZEEER BRAE
Executive Director
HiTEE
Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (Chairladly) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 February 2023)
%/J\yﬁ\’#i (/%) i TER TEH TEA TEA TEA TEH
R_FE_Z#£_F—HEZT)
Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 February 2023)
FREE R -_E-_ZF_F—HEZT) THER THER TEA TEH TEA TEH
Mr. Choi Tan Yee (appointed on 1 February 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
ERELE (WZEZF_F—HEZH) TER TEH TEA TEA TEA TEH
Mr. Jiang Jinbo (appointed on 1 February 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
EEREE W _E_ZF_H—HEZT) THER THER TEH TEH TEH TEH
Ms. Chen Jun (appointed on 1 February 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
WMELT (WZFE_ZF_H—HEZH) TER TEH TEA TEA TEA TEH
Mr. Li Haifeng (resigned on 1 February 2023) 4/4 N/A N/A 11 11 11
FEMEE (R-E_ZFE_H—HEF TER TEA
Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (appointed on 1 July 2022 1/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 01
and resigned on 1 February 2023)
CEELYE R -E__FtH-HEZIE THER TEH TEA TEH

RZEZZF"F—HfT)
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No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held

HE/ BTEERY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Investment
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meetin Meeting Meeting
Exegd BNKZEEY nﬁ FMzEE #s REZEEEE REZECEH BRAE
Non-Executive Director
FHTEE
Mr. Wang Ke (resigned on 1 February 2023) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11 11
IREE (K ZE-=F_H—HFFE) TEA A AEA
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BLFRTEE
Mr. Wang Tianzi (appointed on 1 February 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
IRREE (R ZEZ=ZFZF—HEZH) TER TEH ~BA TER TEHA ~BA
Mr. Wang Fan (appomfed on 1 February 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
TREE (RZEZ=ZF-H—HEZF) TEA TER TEA TEH TEA TEA
Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (appointed on 1 February 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
BEELE (W ZE_=ZF_F—HEZH) TER TEH ~BA TER TEHA ~BA
Mr. Peng Peng (appomfed on 1 February 2023) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
EBrE WZEZZF-H-HEZF) TEA TER TEH TEH TEH TEA
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (resigned on 1 February 2023) 2/4 3/3 N/A 11 N/A 11
KBEE (K ZE_=F_F—HE#E) A TEHR
Mr. Wang Shiming (resigned on 1 February 2023) 2/4 3/3 N/A 11 N/A 11
THBRE (R -EZZF_F—HFHT) NEA ABH
Mr. Yu Ping Ming (appointed on 1 August 2022 1/4 1/3 N/A N/A N/A 0/
and resigned on 1 February 2023)
SROLE KR ZFE-ZF/ A-HEZHR TEH TEH TEHA
RIEZ=F_-F—HEFA)
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi (resigned on 1 August 2022) 1/4 2/3 N/A 11 N/A 11
RIRBEE R-FE_—#/|H—HEF TR ABH
Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held REMEFE RN EHITESEKRY
a meeting with independent non-executive directors without ERERT Efﬁﬁiﬁi%#ﬂ?%%

the presence of executive directors during the year.
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the financial statements of
the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The directors will select
suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently,
make judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Board aims to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects in presenting annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules as well as the information
required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements of the
Group is set out on pages 64 to 65 of this Annual Reports.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks that the Group is willing
to take in achieving its strategic objectives, and has the
ultimate responsibility to maintain a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems for the
Group and review their effectiveness so as to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets and ensure
strict compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems, ensuring strict compliance with relevant rules and
regulations as well and reporting to the Board.
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In line with last year, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are based on the Internal Control
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of Treadway Commission in the
US in 2013 (2013 COSO Framework”) and Internal Control
and Risk Management — A Basic Framework issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants which
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The RMSC, with management from
different business units, has assisted the Board and Audit
Committee in discharging their duties in risk management
and internal control functions by drafting an annual internal
audit plan, ensuring a smooth audit checking on the Group
business operations according to the audit plans designed
and reporting to the Board and/or Audit Committee any
potential risks facing the Group in a timely manner.

The Group understands that risk management and internal
control systems are not merely about policies and manuals,
but about people and the actions they take at every level
of the Group. To support all employees in ever-changing
markets, regular training is provided to strengthen their
awareness of risk and capability to manage risks. During
the year, the Board together with the Audit Committee,
reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions,
and were satisfied with the results of the review.

All in all, the Board continues to enhance and oversee the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems with
the support of the Audit Committee and RMSC. Below are
the review process and results regarding the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended
31 December 2022.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

RMSC designed, implemented and monitored the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems by
considering the five integrated components of 2013 COSO
Framework, namely, control environment, risk assessment,
control activities, information and communication and
monitoring activities.

During the risk assessment process, RMSC identified the
significant risks facing the Group. A risk matrix report was
prepared which prioritised risks according to the likelihood of
their occurrence and the significance of their impact on the
business of the Group.

Following the review and endorsement of the risk matrix
report by the Audit Committee and the Board, RMSC
developed an annual internal audit plan to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. RMSC investigated and assessed what
internal control procedures were to be executed to ensure
the identified significant risks were managed within the
acceptable level. These internal control procedures covered
material controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
as to the achievement of the Group’s objectives including
financial, operational and compliance controls. A monthly
Independent internal audit was performed by RMSC
members to test and evaluate whether the selected internal
controls were effective. During the year, RMSC members
had performed internal audit on the Group’s business cycles
including foreign currency exchange, revenue, purchase,
information management, human resources, payroll, health
and safety check as well as cash payment.

In addition, each existing business segment was required
to perform assessment on the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The assessment questionnaire sets out key factors
in each of the five integrated components of 2013 COSO
Framework.
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With the assessment questionnaires from each business
segment, monthly, quarterly and annual reports from RMSC,
the Audit Committee closely monitored the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and reported to the Board on an ongoing basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, both the Audit
Committee and the Board were not aware of any material
internal control defects and were satisfied that the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group have
been effective and adequate.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company formulated the inside information policy as
a guideline to handle and disseminate inside information
in order to ensure the Group is in compliance with the
regulatory requirements. The inside information policy
contains a strict prohibition on unauthorised use of inside
information and sets out, inter alia, establishment of the
inside information identification, reporting and disclosure
protocol and procedures. For the year ended 31 December
2022, inside information was disseminated in accordance
with the inside information policy and the applicable laws
and regulations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited is the external auditor of
the Company. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
external auditor received the following remuneration for audit
services provided to the Group:
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Audit services TR 900
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Review of indebtedness statement ERERER 180

1,080

The Audit Committee received written confirmation from
the external auditor on its independence and objectivity
as required by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong
laws, the Company engages an external service provider to
provide secretarial service and has appointed Ms. Lam Wai
(“Ms. Lam”) as it company secretary on 1 February 2023.
Since Ms. Lam is not an employee of the Group, Mr. Choi
Tan Yee, our executive director, is the person whom Ms. Lam
can contact for the purpose of Code Provision F.1.1 of the
CG Code.

The Company Secretary for the year ended 31 December
2022 has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Group had a workforce of 488 employees as of 31
December 2022. Among them, approximately 76.8% of
the workforce (including senior management) were female.
In light of the business nature of the Group, the Group
considers the total workforce diversity (including gender
diversity) of the Group is balanced as a whole and intends
to maintain a similar level of gender diversity of the overall
workforce, and will continue to promote diversity through
training programs, employee networks, equitable hiring and
recruitment practices.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In order to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general
meeting of the Company at which the Chairman of the Board
and the chairmen of the Board committees are pleased to
answer questions related to the Group’s business.

REHWE

REFREFEEXEBURERET L
MRANRBRER AR XREIINER
HBHERRERUNERS IR T "=
F_A-BEEMELLE (THIL))
RABME -HRME T IFAEEE
B ML T AmEERERTAZTA
BXBFANMFRAERTDRITESTESN
BIEBB-

NEMERIERBEE_ZT __
+-_A=+—HULEEEESHTLRY
+H/NEFRERAEEE -

BIZr(k

A B _F+__A=+—H K&
B H4SSZLE T - HA» 4976.8%E T
(BRESHREEAE) AUM - EBERAE
EENEEME AEERASLTERE
BHRETEMEIZ T (B4R
b)) EREFE TEERFEEET
MR 2 o B RIFE LUK TE » Il & 4
BEBREITE - RBERIE D TIERE
KMIBEEREREZ Tt

BligRiBE
HERRFRIFFENE  LEBREH
FBAARZRRBERNEG MEFEE

FREEFZECTIFENESREA
REBMEFBBZIER -

Annual Report 2022 FERE 8 7



Corporate Governance Report ¥ &8% &

To promote effective communication, the Company has
adopted a shareholders communication policy which aims
at ensuring the shareholders of the Company are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company, in order to
enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow shareholders to engage actively with
the Company. The Company also maintains a corporate
website at www.carrywealth.com in order to disseminate
information on a timely basis and the published information
will be maintained at the above website for at least five
years.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of the
shareholders’ communication policy of the Company.
Taking into account the variety of existing channels for
communication and participation, the Company is of the
view that it’'s shareholders’ communication policy was
effective during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

To maintain a balance between meeting expectations of
the shareholders of the Company and prudent capital
management, the Company has also adopted a dividend
policy which sets out the basic principles and considerations
factors in determining the distribution of the dividends
by the Board. Under the dividend policy, the Company
may declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit and that the
declaration and distribution of dividend does not affect the
Group’s normal operations, the distribution and payment of
dividend shall be subject to the requirements under the Bye-
laws of the Company, the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) and all applicable laws and regulations. In
proposing distribution of dividends, the Board will consider
the factors include the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, general economic conditions and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact
on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and any other factors that the Board deem
appropriate.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders to Convene a Special General Meeting
and Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders’
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
can by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company to convene a special general
meeting for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. In compliance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws
of the Company, any annual general meeting, and general
meeting at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered shall be called by at least 21 clear days’ notice,
whilst others may be called by at least 14 clear days’ notice.

To further enhance the minority shareholders’ right, all
resolutions at any general meeting are decided on poll and
such practice has been adopted since 2005. The chairman
of any general meetings ensures that the shareholders are
informed of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll by
way of making the explanation at the commencement of the
general meetings. The chairman of general meetings also
ensures full compliance with the requirements about voting
by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of
the Company.
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Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director

The procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for
election as a director can be found on the website of the
Company. Pursuant to Bye-laws of the Company, no person
other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election as a Director at any general meeting unless a written
notice signed by a member (other than the person to be
proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such written notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a written notice
signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at
the registration office provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such written notice(s) given, shall
be at least seven (7) days and that the period for lodgment
of such written notice(s) shall commence on the day after
the despatch of the written notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Specific enquiries or suggestions by shareholders can be
sent in writing to the Board at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong or by email to the Company
(info@carrywealth.com). In addition, shareholders can
contact Tricor Abacus Limited, the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer agent of the Company, if they have
any enquiries about their shareholdings and entitlement to
dividend. Relevant contact details are set out on page 6 of
this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
32 to the financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
performance for the year by operating segment is set out in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 is set out on pages 14 to 19 under
Management Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on page 66 of this Annual Report.
The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 8
of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWING

Particulars of the Group’s borrowing and pledged assets are
set out in Note 24 to the financial statements.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS FEHEERER
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year AEBFEHEEBAERRERNFM
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers ZRERHERDLEWT !
are as follows:
[0) Purchases REE
— the largest supplier —RAHER 23.1%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate —hAARHEESE 63.6%
(i)  Sales HE
— the largest customer —RAKR 99.9%
— five largest customers in aggregate —hAAREFR &5 100%

None of the directors, their close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the issued shares of
the Company) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no reserve (31
December 2021: Nil) available for distribution as computed
in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended). However, the Company’s share premium account
in the amount of HK$217,761,000 as at 31 December 2022
(31 December 2021: HK$217,761,000) may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares, subject to the
shareholders’ approval of the Company and compliance
with provision of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended) and the Bye-laws of the Company.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the

date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (Chairlady)
(appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony
(appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Choi Tan Yee
(appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Jiang Jinbo
(appointed on 1 February 2023)
Ms. Chen Jun
(appointed on 1 February 2023)

Mr. Li Haifeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

(resigned on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Tsang Hing Bun

(appointed on 1 July 2022 and

resigned on 1 February 2023)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Wang Ke
(resigned on 1 February 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Tianzi

(appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Wang Fan

(appointed on 1 February 20235)
Mr. Cheng Wai Hei

(appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Peng Peng

(appointed on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

(resigned on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi

(resigned on 1 August 2022)
Mr. Wang Shiming

(resigned on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Yu Ping Ming

(appointed on 1 August 2022 and

resigned on 1 February 2023)
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Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors have
the power to appoint any person as a Director from time to
time to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board. Any Director so appointed by the
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election at that meeting. Accordingly, Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu,
Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony, Mr. Choi Tan Yee, Mr. Jiang
Jinbo, Ms. Chen Jun, Mr. Wang Tianzi, Mr. Wang Fan, Mr.
Cheng Wai Hei and Mr. Peng Peng shall hold office only until
the forthcoming annual general meeting and be eligible for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Wang Tianzi, Mr. Wang Fan, Mr. Cheng Wai Hei and
Mr. Peng Peng are independent non-executive directors of
the Company as at the date of this Report and all of them
were appointed for a term not more than three years.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu (B/hf#i& 1)

Ms. Ma, aged 62, is a seasoned investor with over 20 years’
experience in culture tourism, technology and healthcare.
She has served as (i) the chairlady and a non-executive
director of China Investment Fund Company Limited (stock
code: 612) since 27 June 2017 and 24 January 2020,
respectively; (ii) the chairlady and the non-executive director
of Fullwealth International Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1034) since 14 January 2021; and (iii) the chairlady
and the executive director of TOMO Holdings Limited
(stock code: 6928) since 21 July 2021. The shares of
these companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

As at the date of this report, Ms. Ma is the sole beneficial
owner and the sole director of MARS Worldwide Holdings
Limited which is interested in 411,293,396 Shares,
representing approximately 45.71% of the issued share
capital of the Company. Therefore, Ms. Ma is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by MARS Worldwide Holdings
Limited by virtue of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
Ms. Ma (i) does not have any other interests in the Shares
of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO);
(i) does not hold any other position within the Company or
its subsidiaries; (iii) does not have any other relationship with
any Director, senior management, substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder; and (iv) did not hold any directorship
in any public companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Mr. Tsang Chun Ho Anthony (also known as Zichen)

Mr. Tsang, aged 39, is currently the managing director
of Fuchsia Capital Limited. He was also a fund manager
of Emperor Greater China Investment Fund and Orient
Investment Fund. Mr. Tsang has accumulated over 15 years
of experience in financial investment, capital operation,
corporate governance, strategic planning and mergers and
acquisitions. He holds the Honorary Doctor of Business
Administration from Lincoln University College and a
Master Degree of Business Administration from Heriot-Watt
University Edinburgh Business School. Mr. Tsang has been
accredited with the “Forbes Outstanding Leader Award” and
the “World Outstanding Chinese Award” in 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
Mr. Tsang (i) does not have any other interests in the Shares
of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO);
(i) does not hold any other position within the Company or
its subsidiaries; (iii) does not have any other relationship with
any Director, senior management, substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder; and (iv) did not hold any directorship
in any public companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Mr. Choi Tan Yee (3 &% %)

Mr. Choi, aged 39, is currently a responsible officer for Type
1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities under the SFO for Rainbow
Capital (HK) Limited, where he is responsible for supervising
and leading execution of corporate finance projects.
Mr. Choi has over 15 years of experience in corporate
finance, accounting and auditing.

Prior to the establishment of Rainbow Capital (HK) Limited
in 2019, Mr. Choi worked in China Tonghai Capital Limited
(formerly known as “Quam Capital Limited”) between
January 2015 and December 2019 with the last position
as director. Between December 2009 and December 2014,
Mr. Choi worked in Somerley Capital Limited with the last
position as senior manager. He handled various initial public
offerings, merger and acquisition transactions and fund-
raising exercises. Mr. Choi also worked in the audit division
of Grant Thornton from 2006 to 2009.

Mr. Choi graduated from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong with a bachelor’s degree of business administration in
December 2005.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
Mr. Choi (i) does not have any other interests in the Shares
of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO);
(i) does not hold any other position within the Company or
its subsidiaries; (iii) does not have any other relationship with
any Director, senior management, substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder; and (iv) did not hold any directorship
in any public companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Mr. Jiang Jinbo (& & iK)

Mr. Jiang, aged 42, is currently the legal representative
and chairman of Shenzhen Dingxin Holding Group Limited
Company* CRIIMRMEREBEBR AT and the legal
representative and chairman of Shenzhen Feng Yuan Xin
Technology Industrial Holding Limited Company* CEIIlT &
BRSREZEITERAERAT). Mr. Jiang has accumulated
over 10 years of extensive experience in the information
technology and corporate management. Mr. Jiang received a
bachelor’s degree in Economics from Guangdong Institute of

Economics and Trade* (BB E 5 £6%) in July 2006.

46 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1% HRAE]

ERBEKE

254> 3958 EEE%/*%’,F@%ZIKEFE”
B —8 BHR7) KENE KRS
MERHEER) RESKPERMIEE
EBZzBEANE BEREREAELE
REIEBRHIT @%Eﬁ’ifﬁ%%ﬁiﬁ\
St RZB D EERBISFAER

RIEBE—NFR L BRIBELXBERAE
2 REERBE—HF—REZE
—NE+ZAEBNRREBEER
BERABRIWBEEESCEMESR
RAB) REBUAES RILEH
TEENFFZAEZZE—ONEL+CZ
BEBRFENMEBRAR  EH
IAEREIE - FEEEZHEERAH

T#Eﬁ;%&ﬁiéiﬁiﬂl’%?ﬁiﬁ
Eg u+5m$?“}5ﬁ§u+“l3laﬁ °

BEER_ZZRF+T_AINEEH
AXARTITHEER LS

Br EXFRIRBEIN ) RAREHE &
S A ()RR A A B R AP H Al 4 A {r] L fth 4
o (E&E BB HEREEEFIEXVED) ;i)
TERAATNEN B AR FHIEEE
MEMBR (I ERTREE - aREE
[ ~ 3 2 A% B8 ol 25 AR A% BR 0 4 AT e E Ath
R, R(VVIRBE=ZF TERTEAE
BB LT RARRBDETERNES
B 7S o

EZRRKE

EZh% 42 BRIARIITRIER
EEERRBEIZEERRRER U5
FYTE RSB REZZERBERAT
ZHEERREREFE - EXRENEARE
REXEEFARRBI0OFENEEL
Bo-EZMAEN_TEELEERER
4% B8 B EA R AR EA EA - B {7 o



Report of the Directors BEE &R &

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
Mr. Jiang (i) does not have any other interests in the
shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO); (i) does not hold any other position within the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iiij does not have any
other relationship with any Director, senior management,
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder; and (iv)
did not hold any directorship in any public companies listed
in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Ms. Chen Jun ((§ &)

Ms. Chen, aged 48, is currently the general manager of
Shenzhen Changbaishan Tourism Cultural Management
Limited* CRIITT REWREXICERABERAB]). Ms. Chen
was appointed as a non-executive director of TOMO
Holdings Limited (stock code: 6928) on 1 February 2023.
Prior to that, Ms. Chen was the regional manager of
Shenzhen Win-Win Business Travel Business Consulting
Co., Ltd* (R T EREIREHLZHAHBRLQS) from
February 2005 to October 2010. Ms. Chen received a
bachelor’s degree in Administration Management from
Wuhan University in December 2015 and has accumulated
extensive experience in sales and marketing and corporate
management.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
Ms. Chen (i) does not have any other interests in the
shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO); (i) does not hold any other position within the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iiij does not have any
other relationship with any Director, senior management,
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder; and (iv)
did not hold any directorship in any public companies listed
in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Tianzi (EiF##5%E) (“Mr. TZ Wang”)

Mr. TZ Wang, aged 30, has been the vice president of
Silverbricks Securities Company Limited since December
2021. Prior to that, Mr. TZ Wang has accumulated over 7
years of experience in corporate finance and management.
He worked in various companies including local and foreign
banks, private equity funds in China and asset management
companies and has gained extensive experience in
investment and finance. Mr. TZ Wang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in marketing from the Southwest University of
Science and Technology in 2015.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
Mr. TZ Wang (i) does not have any other interests in the
Shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO); (i) does not hold any other position within the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iiij does not have any
other relationship with any Director, senior management,
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder; and (iv)
did not hold any directorship in any public companies listed
in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. Wang Fan (EMR5%%) (“Mr. F Wang”)

Mr. F Wang, aged 31, has over 5 years of experience
in investment and asset management. Mr. F Wang held
managerial positions in an investment company and an
asset management company in the People’s Republic of
China during the period from June 2015 to March 2022,
where he took up a wide range of duties such as formulation
of investment strategies, execution of investment orders,
investment portfolio monitoring, compliance and risk control
and advisory for private equity funds. Mr. F Wang obtained
a bachelor of arts degree in art and design from Jingchu

=+ Ak

University of Technology* (%2 T 2 %) in June 2015.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, Mr. F
Wang (i) does not have any other interests in the Shares of
the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO); (ii)
does not hold any other position within the Company or its
subsidiaries; (i) does not have any other relationship with
any Director, senior management, substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder; and (iv) did not hold any directorship
in any public companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.

Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (EB{218 5% 4%)

Mr. Cheng, aged 42, obtained his Bachelor’'s degree of
arts in accounting and finance from the Leeds Metropolitan
University (currently known as Leeds Beckett University) in
the United Kingdom in May 2005. He obtained his Master’s
degree of business administration from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in September 2017. He has been a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since October 2011. He was admitted to Graduateship of
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
(currently known as The Chartered Governance Institute)
in February 2013 and has been an associate of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (currently known as
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute) since May
2013.
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Mr. Cheng has over 15 years of audit, financial management
and company secretarial experience. He joined Shu Lun
Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited as a semi-senior in
the audit and assurance division in October 2006, and was
transferred to BDO Limited due to a corporate merger in
May 2009 with his last position as a senior associate in July
2010. He joined Inno-Tech Holdings Limited, a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8202),
as a financial manager in July 2010 and was promoted to a
financial controller. He also acted as the company secretary
of Inno-Tech Holdings Limited from May 2013 to August
2014 and from July 2015 to November 2015 respectively.
He joined Win Win Way Construction Holdings Ltd. (currently
known as CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 994), as chief financial officer in November
2015 and also acted as its company secretary since May
2016, where he was responsible for the financial and
secretarial matters of the company until July 2019. He acted
as the company secretary of Chi Kan Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9913), from August 2020 to November 2021,
where he was responsible for the secretarial matters of
the company. He joined Zhicheng Technology Group Ltd.
(currently known as Min Fu International Holding Limited), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8511), as financial controller in December 2021 and also
acted as company secretary since January 2022, where he
was responsible for the financial and secretarial matters of
the company.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
Mr. Cheng (i) does not have any other interests in the Shares
of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO);
(i) does not hold any other position within the Company or
its subsidiaries; (iii) does not have any other relationship with
any Director, senior management, substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder; and (iv) did not hold any directorship
in any public companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in
the past three years.
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Mr. Peng Peng (Z )

Mr. Peng, aged 56, obtained a doctor’s degree in History
from Sun Yat-sen University in June 1994. He has been a
founder of the Institute for Maritime Silk Road Studies at
Shenzhen University* CRIII K2 8% 8 L4448 = BB ZTFT)
since 2008, a professor in the People’s College at Shenzhen
University since 2010 and the Executive Dean of Shenzhen
Liu Yuyi Art Institute* CRIIZF—EMBT) since 2019. He
also served as the cultural director of Guangzhou Puwen
Science Education Culture Co., Ltd* (B & XR#HXEHE
FR/A7]) from 1998 to 2010. Mr. Peng has over 20 years of
extensive experience in cultural and artistic studies. He is
currently a founder of Shenzhen Maker Association* (1)l
BIE W &), with the aim to promote life science and high-
tech related work. Mr. Peng is currently an independent non-
executive Director of Fullwealth International Group Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1034) and an independent non-
executive Director, a member of each of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the TOMO
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 6928).

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
Mr. Peng (i) does not have any other interests in the
shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO); (i) does not hold any other position within the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iiij does not have any
other relationship with any Director, senior management,
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder; and (iv)
did not hold any directorship in any public companies listed
in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to the directors. Such provisions were
in force during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
remained in force as of the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at the date of this Annual Report, the interests of the
directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”) or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company

EERBETHABREAAN
A QE W EFISHE EREFE
4B A B 2 B 19 A AR 15 e
BB ZRRER,HKA

REFRAH ARFAEFRESITH
ANEBRERBZRD B R ARE
BERBERD (TBHERBERFRM)
EXVEREIS2F AR B AT HEFZET
il HARE LR BT AETEFETESTK
ZRRETR (MRETR]) BENEAR
B E AP 2 e 0 F

REATREAPEREECI1I0ETZE
BERZFE

Number of shares held

#ERiHAE
Percentage of
issued share
Personal Corporate capital
Name of director Capacity interests interests  Total interests (approximately)
HEHT
i =
Bty 17 Az GE $7 MR (#49)
Ms. Ma Xiaogjiu Interest of a controlled - 411,293,396 411,293,396 45.71
BBzt corporation (Note)
REGZEZ R (Hzt)

Note: The shares were held by MARS Worldwide Holdings Limited, which
was wholly owned by Ms. Ma Xiaogiu. Therefore, Ms. Ma Xiaogiu
is deemed to be interested in the Shares of the Company held by
MARS Worldwide Holdings Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual
Report, none of the directors and chief executives of the
Company or their respective associates had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed in the sections headed
“‘DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION” and “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” herein, at no time was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary
of its parent company a party to any arrangement to enable
the Company’s directors or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary
of its parent company was a party and in which a director
of the Company or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the directors of the Company had
any interest in a business (other than those businesses
where the directors of the Company were appointed as
directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or
any member of the Group) which is considered to compete
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at the date of this Annual Report, as recorded in the
register kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO, the Company had been notified of the following
person (other than the directors and chief executive of the
Company) who had interests in the shares and/or underlying
shares of the Company which fell to be disclosed to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company

FERREBLE R0 RERR
RzEmR WA

MRAFERBE BN A RBIRESHK
HE 5B 55336 1k EE 2 L MAr S > 4
NEBEUTAL (ELATDEEIES
THABRIN BHEREIAT RN R
SEBARMM P REE R MAREE
T ERE & B SEXVER B2 K 5530 2B B s
NERE .

REAR RSP EREE10ETZE
BlRzE

Number of Percentage of
ordinary issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity shares capital
EiERe BT
AR E g1 Kir&8 i = g u A
MARS Worldwide Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 411,293,396 45.71
(Note)
Bm#EEA (Htz)

Note: The shares were held by MARS Worldwide Holdings Limited,
which was wholly owned by Ms. Ma Xiaogiu. These interests
were duplicated with the interests of Ms. Ma Xiaogiu as disclosed
in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION”.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company had not been notified of any other
person (other than the directors and chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or short positions in the
shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which fell
to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of
the Company, there is a sufficiency of public float of the
Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules as
at the date of this Annual Report.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

On 22 May 2012, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”). A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme,
as disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules is as
follows:

(i) Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company and/or any of the subsidiaries.

(ii) Qualifying participants

Any person being an employee, director (including
executive director, non-executive director or independent
non-executive director), consultant, representative,
professional adviser, customer, business partner, joint
venture partner, strategic partner, landlord or tenant
of, or any supplier or provider of goods or services to,
the Company or any subsidiary, and any trustee(s) of a
discretionary trust of which one or more beneficiaries
belong to any of the abovementioned category(ies) of
persons.
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(iii)

(iv)

o0

Maximum number of shares

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 80,470,023.

Maximum entitlement of each qualifying participant

No qualifying participant shall be granted any options
which, if exercised in full, would result in such person’s
maximum entitlement exceeding 1% of the aggregate
number of shares for the time being issued and issuable
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date unless such grant
is approved in advance by the shareholders in general
meeting.

No qualifying participant who is a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates shall be
granted any options, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the shares issued and issuable to such person
under the Scheme in the 12-month period up to and
including the proposed grant date for such options,
unless such grant of options is approved in advance by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting:

(@) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the number
of shares then in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets on each relevant date on
which the grant of such options is made to such
person under the relevant scheme, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 1EE 1% HRAE]
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(v) Option period (v) BERRIER X4 HA
In respect of any particular option, such period MEARECEREMS B8
commencing on the date of grant or such later date as HELHHANES AT ZREBH
the directors may decide and expiring on such date as st REESRARTZHBPER
the directors may determine, such period not to exceed %A MHARE L ER#E B AL
10 years from the date of grant. rEBA+FE-

(vi) Acceptance of offer (vi) E4IRE
An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for EAREEREZZ2HABUE A
acceptance for a period of 30 days from the date of BHHERLEBEREZRHEZ HE
the letter containing the grant. An offer of the grant of Rt BT H ARE— KK
the option shall be regarded as having been accepted IHRERAEXSZZEHERERMY
when the duplicate of the grant letter duly signed by B ARERNFARE.008BITZH
the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the EHEAREBREZABER BY
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the EBRERZRREGIEEEEN-

grant thereof is received by the Company.

(vii) Subscription price (vii) SREB(E

The subscription price in respect of any particular option AR EEREZRBEAEETY

shall be such price as the Board may determine at the REHEMBREBHRSMEBEEZ

date of grant of the relevant option but shall be at least B EARATDLR TN ZIBZES

the highest of: =

(@) The closing price of the Company’s shares as stated (@ NERERHEH HAREXE
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange H) A RBRBEBKEH
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; WEXRM ZWHE ;

(b) The average closing price of the Company’s shares b) RABIRHEEEREERRE
as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock BRI AEESEXHTHIMES
Exchange for the five business days immediately HIREXRMI ZFEHKRHE; &

preceding the date of grant; and

(c) The nominal value of the Company’s shares. (c) XRBRMZEE.
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(viiijThe remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme has expired on 21 May 2022. No share
options were outstanding as at 1 January 2022 and
31 December 2022. No share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company had
no effective share option scheme in place.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares, or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares, were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the Laws of Bermuda.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 40 of
this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company’s compliance with the relevant provisions
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 will be set out in a
standalone Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and published on the Group’s and the Stock Exchange’s
websites.

CHANGE OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER
AND THE OFFER

On 30 September 2022 (after trading hours). Dragon Peace
Limited and Mr. Li Haifeng (collectively, the “Vendors”) and
MARS Worldwide Holdings Limited (the “Purchaser”) entered
into a sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”), pursuant
to which the Vendors agreed to sell to the Purchaser and
the Purchaser agreed to buy from the Vendors an aggregate
of 411,289,396 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 50.28% of the total issued share capital of
the Company at that time, for a total cash consideration
of HK$98,298,165.63 (being HK$0.239 per share of the
Company). The completion of the SPA took place on 30
September 2022. Since then, the Purchaser had become
the controlling shareholder of the Company. The Purchaser
was required under the Code on Takeovers and Mergers in
Hong Kong to make a mandatory unconditional cash offer
for all the issued Shares not already owned and/or agreed to
be acquired by it and/or parties acting in concert with it at
a price of HK$0.239 per share of the Company (the “Offer”).
The Offer was closed on 6 January 2023. Having made all
reasonable enquiries and to the best knowledge and belief of
the Company, the Purchaser held 411,293,396 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 50.28% of the issued
share capital of the Company after the close of the Offer on
6 January 2023 and approximately 45.71% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report. Details of the SPA and the Offer are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 30 September 2022,
20 October 2022, 18 November 2022, 25 November 2022,
20 December 2022, and 6 January 2023 respectively and
the circular of the Company dated 18 November 2022.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 10 February 2023 (after trading hours), the Company
entered into two subscription agreements with Ms.
Zhang Huanhuan (GREX#X) and Ms. Huang Liging (2R
&) (the “Subscribers”) respectively, pursuant to which
the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to the
Subscribers, and the Subscribers have conditionally agreed
to subscribe for 81,804,141 new shares of the Company
(the “Subscription Shares”) at the subscription price of
HK$0.59 per Subscription Share under the general mandate
granted by the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 20 May 2022
(the “Subscription”). The completion of the Subscription
took place on 2 March 2023 and the number of issued
shares of the Company upon the allotment and issue of the
Subscription Shares is 899,845,554,

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting to re-appoint
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the auditor of the
Company.

Save for the above, there has been no other change in the
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Ma Xiaogqiu
Chairlady and executive director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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L] L]
L] Ll L]
-0 @ -
.'.0... SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
0.0.0 17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,

311 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Carry Wealth
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 144,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS R E st HIE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were Eﬁfﬁ%ﬁi‘%lﬁ EIRBEHRFNEEHE  BAEA
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements %?é%?“%ﬁ%%ﬁ’]%ﬁf%%;zﬂ’]%lﬁ ELEE
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our BERMBAERBGEUBRRERLEARRER
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming L{TEEEEE’J KM FHEEEHEHBERENE
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these Ho

matters.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right- ME- -BERSRERERAESEZRERSE
of-use assets

Refer to notes 6, 17 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements FERNZRGREMBRRMETO17R26UKE
respectively and the accounting policies on page 90. VEMNE ufﬁlﬁ °

The key audit matter
RARES=E

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESNMAEERRESSE

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets attributable to the Group amounted to
HK$59,081,000 and HK$9,571,000 as at 31 December 2022
respectively. The Group’s property, plant and equipment
comprised of buildings and other fixed assets amounted
to HK$47,667,000, HK$11,414,000 respectively and the
Group’s right-of-use assets comprised of land use right
and office premise of HK$7,974,000 and HK$1,597,000
respectively.
E’J_v__E—I— B=+—H> EBEEEREWE -KE
RERCHEEENREED N #A59,81, ooo/’ém&
9,571,000%750 EEBNME -BREAREBEEIESED
2%47,667,000%775&11,414,0005%7759’%%?&E%E%TE
kR EEENCRAEEEGESEDHR7,974,000% T K&
1,597,000 70 HY £ (5 FA #E e HF A =2 o

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
a loss of HK$7,625,000. Management considers this as
an indicator of impairment, triggering a need to perform an
impairment assessment of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.

HE_ZT-__&#+_R8 *—I- BIEFE> BS£EEREEHEE
7,625,000 Lo BEEERABILTVRERR 5| HETE &
%@%%\H%&Eﬁﬁ&@ﬁﬁ%ﬁézm%o

Based on the estimation of the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) by reference to a value-in-use
calculation, the management determined that no impairment
of these property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets is required.
REE2ECHEBES S HZREEL BN INEEEEE
s EEEEEZEVE - BREERREREAEEER
BRE

The estimate of recoverable amount of these assets involved
management judgement in determining the future cash flows
and key parameters for the value-in-use calculation.
ZEBENRESBENGIREEBBNEECARRERE
REREESEEES AL -

62 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =13 HRAE]

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets included the following:

EMEAECEEBEYE BMERRERERAESEERETGENE
FFEE

— assessed the impairment assessment performed by the
management and the reasonableness of value-in-use
calculation prepared by the management including assessed
the reasonableness of cash flow forecast and compared with
actual results available up to the report date.

- MEEEEETHNRENGREEEEGNEREBSEE
NEEY giEThReREFEANGEE RESEERSH
NERERETLER

— challenged the appropriateness of the key parameters
underlying the cash flows forecasts against the historical
performance and latest market expectations.

- EHEREBEEXRBEREFHHSRAGERESREEN KRN E
EZYRNEE -

— challenged the discount rate adopted in the value-in-
use calculations by reviewing the basis of calculation and
comparing the input data to market sources.

- PBREDOSEERLRKEABIRETSRRETLER 5
FRBESEPRANMRE.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report ¥& 37 1% 8B R &5

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lee Shun Ming.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Shun Ming

Practising Certificate Number: PO7068

Hong Kong
31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 4 & 8% RE M2 ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ_—_T —"F+_HA=+—HILEE

2022 2021
g —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b= F#ET FET
Revenue U = 7 499,024 441 171
Cost of sales Fi=R= PN (418,801) (380,083)
Gross profit EM 80,223 61,088
Other income and gains, net H AU A R W i — F 28 9 2,166 4,920
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDHBEXZ (9,660) (14,237)
Administrative and other operating  TE R HMEERY
expenses (76,511) (50,166)
Finance income BMEUWA 10 646 187
Finance expense MBER 10 (4,489) (1,811)
Loss before taxation IR EiES1E 11 (7,625) (19)
Income tax expense PRI X 14 - -
Loss for the year attributable to AT #EFEA
equity holders of the Company  FE{LEEEIE (7,625) (19)
Other comprehensive income HthZmWA
Item that will not be reclassified HBETAEMFEE
subsequently to profit or loss 1EmkzEH
(Loss) gain on revaluation of MEZEW (BB W
properties, net of tax BRI IE (316) 8,995
Item that may be reclassified HEEOJEFHIEE
subsequently to profit or loss EmkzEH
Exchange differences on translation EEINEFHFZERERE
of overseas operations (2,347) 117
Other comprehensive (expense) FEEMEZE G WA
income for the year, net of tax BRI I8 (2,663) 9,112
Total comprehensive (expense) ZEAFEIZIFTHEA
income for the year attributable ELEEZRHE BIZ) KA
to equity holders of the k]
Company (10,288) 9,093
LOSS PER SHARE - (HK CENT) #2518 — (G&1l)
— basic and diluted —EHEA KRS 15 (0.93) -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 43 & Bf & #K 3R

As at 31 December 2022 R-_E - _"F+_F=+—H
2022 2021
S e ——
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B =% F#T FHE7T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment MEBERRE 17 59,081 69,874
Right-of-use assets FREEE 26 9,571 9,886
Interests in a joint venture R—EEaEhxzEE 18 - =
Deposit and other receivables & R E A FE R IE 21 335 -
68,987 79,760
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories F8 19 43,791 60,532
Trade and other receivables B 5 K MW EIE 21 44,933 49,263
Financial assets at fair value through Z2A A EsT A& ER
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (A REFTAEBRIR))
TEREE 20 1,329 2,124
Cash and bank balances IR & K IR1T 45 6R 22 95,686 97,546
185,739 209,465
CURRENT LIABILITIES RE&E
Trade and other payables B5 kEMENRIE 23 66,363 58,183
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 724 663
Bank borrowings BITER 24 33,333 64,989
100,420 123,835
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEERE 85,319 85,630
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EEERTHEE
LIABILITIES 154,306 165,390
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4: & B4 #&4k R &

As at 31 December 2022 R-_E__F+_H=+—H
2022 2021
—E-C B —

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5% FExT FHBIT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEER
Lease liabilities HEAaE 26 946 =
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEE 25 16,939 17,045
17,885 17,045
NET ASSETS BEZFE 136,421 148,345

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRE#G
Share capital fg 7 27 81,804 81,804
Reserves ki 28 54,617 66,541
TOTAL EQUITY Mg 136,421 148,345

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 144 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2023 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Ma Xiaoqiu
Bk
Chairman

ZE
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Tsang Chun Ho Anthony
FR

Executive Director
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

E kS

—_—

F+-RA=T—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

SRFREEE RS
Property
Share Share Merger  revaluation  Translation Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
&4 RipiEE BHifE NEERGHE ERGE RER @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET TEx TEx TEx TAT TEr
At 1 January 2021 R-§-—%-A—A 81804 217,761 (200) 42,141 (34788)  (167.466) 139,252
Loss for the year FEBR - - - = = (19) (19)
Other comprehensive income FEHEMZEAWNA
for the year:
Gain on revaluation of properties, BEMEz I 1%RRE
net of tax = = = 8,995 = = 8,995
Exchange differences on translation BRERINEBMESLZ
of overseas operations ERER - - - - 17 - 17
Total comprehensive income (expense)  EEZEUWA (%) 4%
for the year - - - 8,995 17 (19 9,093
At 31 December 2021 RIBZ-F
+-A=+-H 81,804 217,761 (200) 51,136 (34,671) (167,485) 148,345
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - (7,625) (7,625)
Other comprehensive expense FEHMPEMER
for the year:
Loss on revaluation of properties, SENEZER NBRE
net of tax - - - (316) - - (316)
Exchange differences on translation BHEBIEBMEEY
of overseas operations EREE - - - - (2,347) - (2,347)
Total comprehensive expense FELEMAY AR
for the year . . - (316) (2,347) (7,625) (10,288)
Dividends recognised as distribution BEERZRENE (fi3H16)
(rote 16) - - - - - (1,636) (1,636)
At 31 December 2022 RIZ-Z&
F—E=EF=E 81,804 217,761 (200) 50,820 (37,018) (176,746) 136,421
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 4 SIRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __"F+_F=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—ZT—C —E"—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx TAEIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEES
Loss before taxation BRI A A5 18 (7,625) (19)
Adjustments for: FHEE
Depreciation of property, ME--BEREBEITE
plant and equipment 10,872 8,173
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 1,558 2,480
Loss on disposal of property, HEWZE BERKE
plant and equipment ZE518 7 -
Provision for inventories FEREE 1,402 667
Exchange loss (gain), net R g8 (ki) F58 359 (1,560)
Fair value loss on equity investment QA A EFFAERERZ
at FVTPL RAEKEZ RAE
&8 418 61
Fair value gain on financial BAREFABTERZ
derivatives at FVTPL ESRITTET R
NAERE (96) (366)
Interest income from structured EEMER A E WA
deposits _ (427)
Interest income FE WA (646) (187)
Interest expenses FMERZ 4,489 1,811
Operating cash flows before SEESEHRZEE
movements in working capital RERA 10,738 10,633
Decrease (increase) in inventories EFa R (Em) 15,339 (21,122)
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 MEMMEWRRIE
other receivables w38 00) 3,995 (6,631)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B5 kHEMENRIE
other payables 120 CRiZ) 8,180 (12,742)
Net cash from (used in) operations 2 &% (FifR) Z23HE 38,252 (29,862)
Interest paid [=ENEAPS (4,489) (1,811)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) REFHEE (FRA) 2
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BRE 33,763 (31,673)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #F &R £ mMER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

2022 2021
S e ——
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#T FHE7T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchases of property, BEVE BEKRRIKE
plant and equipment (2,236) (2,802)
Placement of structured deposits EREBEER — (81,325)
Withdrawal of structured deposits REVAE BT - 81,325
Placement of pledged bank deposits  7Z/ B K IFIRITEN - (53,054)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 2 EXE IR IR 1T IE ™ 47,805 8,939
Interest received BUF 2 646 614
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) BREEBESE FRA) 2
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRE 46,215 (46,303)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AL EEY
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITERPTERIE 34,884 65,766
Repayments of bank borrowings RITERZEE (64,989) (19,266)
Dividend paid BENERE 1,636 -
Principal elements of lease payments & &k = A & ZF 19 (1,123) (2,349)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM PEEE (FRA) EX 2
FINANCING ACTIVITIES FIRE (32,864) 44,151
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN RERREEEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS &0 G2L) ;3%8 47,114 (33,825)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS WEzHERRS%E
AT THE BEGINNING OF bi=] =
THE YEAR 49,741 83,468
Effect of foreign exchange rates SNEETEREE) 2 &
changes (1,169) 98
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS WEXZHRERRS%E
AT THE END OF THE YEAR = 22 95,686 49,741
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B4 #& R R Mt :E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __"F+_F=+—HILFE

72

GENERAL INFORMATION

Carry Wealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

Following the change of the controlling shareholder of the Company on
30 September 2022, the Company'’s ultimate holding company became
MARS Worldwide Holdings Limited (“MARS Worldwide”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Island (the “BVI”). The ultimate
beneficial owner of MARS Worldwide is Ms. Ma Xiaoqiu.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are manufacturing and trading of
garment products, and securities investment.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “corporate
information” to this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS$, which is
the Company’s functional currency.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the

following amendments to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective for the Group’s

financial year beginning 1 January 2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid — 19 - Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts: Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material effect on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA 7SR R I =%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. M IREBIIZEAMBREENZ
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS FER (48)
(“HKFRS(s)”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective EHEMGEMNKREROIRETREETE BT
REEER
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to AEE W FRIRFEEAUTEEMGE R ERER
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: B BB BIREZEQ R BT ¢
HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts' EAMBRSENE TSR RRER"
October 2020 and February (BEZZZZ5 AR
2022 Amendments to B _EANEBYME
HKFRS17) REERF175HR 28]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets BRANTREENF10%RK BAREEERERE
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its ERGHENSBR 2B  LEISELEZ
Associate or Joint Venture? BEEHNERHE
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and ERMBREENF 6z EREAPNEE?
Leaseback? 1&51
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BRGHERF IR 2B BEAEARBNFE
Current or Non-current and the MERAEEEER
related amendments to Hong 555 (20205)
Kong Interpretation 5(2020) SRR P
Presentation of Financial 25 -ERAHE
Statements — Classification by EREREXEERR
the Borrower of a Term Loan NZ2EHRERZA
that Contains a Repayment on 17
Demand Clause?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with EAGHESIT 2B BRANFERDERE
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies' EAGHENSRITR BHBERNREE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 EEMBREENERRS
ok zBET
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’ EAYHER ST 2 BT B EHNER'
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BRAEIERF125 2B HE-_QFEENE
Liabilities arising from a Single ERBEERNE
Transaction' EfRE
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 1 N _E_=F—A—BH¥UEHBFERBEEX-
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 2 RIZ_ME—B—BR U BB FERBER
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. ® EMBHEKRERETE
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the ANBEFE BEANII BV EBRSE
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the B E BT A A B AEBNEBE KRGS
results and the financial position of the Group. RERBERFTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 435

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

74

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for buildings and financial instruments that
are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, at the end of each
reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement
date regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for value in use of non-current
assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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4 A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on the
characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over the
investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and (i) the ability to use its power over the investee
to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of these
elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 435

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __"F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

76

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in a and joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in a joint venture are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method.

Under the equity method, investments in a joint venture are initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s share of the profit or loss and changes
in the other comprehensive income of the joint venture is recognised
in profit or loss and other comprehensive income respectively after
the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, which determined
using the equity method together with any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
venture, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

If a joint venture uses accounting policies other than those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments
are made to make the joint venture’s accounting policies conform to
those of the Group when the joint venture’s financial statements are
used by the Group in applying the equity method.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes a joint venture.
On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the joint venture is recognised as goodwill and is
included in the carrying amount of the investment.

The requirements of HKAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s
investment in an a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying
amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the net investment subsequently increases.
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4 A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into on or after the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option) and
leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The
lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially
measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual

value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise the options; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 435

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __"F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

/3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective
interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment to
the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or
change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
revised discount rate.

e the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or
a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest
rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

e A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it
is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised
and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset.
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4 A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated over the
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset
is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Investment in subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (excluding buildings) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses. Buildings are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at revaluated amount.

Revaluations of buildings are made annually at the end of each
reporting period. Any increase in carrying amount of buildings
as a result of a revaluation is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of properties
revaluation reserve. However, an increase is recognised in profit or
loss when that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised in profit or loss while a decrease is recognised
in other comprehensive income when it reduces the related amount
accumulated in properties revaluation reserve.

The properties revaluation reserve in respect of an item of property,
plant and equipment stated at revaluated amount is transferred directly
to retained earnings when it is realised on retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost or fair value
of items of property, plant and equipment less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 435

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

80

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
156. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI”), and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends

on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
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4 A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
date to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on initial
recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset
before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost. For
financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Finance income” (note 10).
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3.

82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTOCI (debt instruments)

The Group classifies and measure subsequently its debt instruments at
FVTOCI if both of the following conditions are met:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
the financial assets; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI includes
accounts receivables. Fair value is determined in the manner described
in note 5. Debt instruments are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. Subsequently, changes in the carrying amount of
debt instruments as a result of foreign exchange gains and losses,
impairment gain or losses, and interest income calculated using
effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss if these debt
instruments had been measured at amortised cost. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these debts instruments are recognised in
other comprehensive income. When these accounts receivables are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

e |nvestments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL,
unless the Group designates an equity investment that is neither
held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

e Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition,
debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or
the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses
on them on different bases. The Group has not designated any
debt instrument as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Fair value
is determined in the manner described in note 5.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “Revenue”
(note 7).

A5 R R MY 5E

EEFEHEER ()
SMIA @)

E2HEE (4)
BAREHAB R RS HEE

FRARBMNAREAAE S AL
g B AR YRR A ATV IR A S £ A
1B R AR E

o BRIEAEE RS RIS E A IE I
33 5 INIE TS & B B E B AR BN R
RIBEABA R B AR MR E R
FHRRRIANRESEARAAE
5 AfR3 o

o AHEBMEMIREIZAANEBSAR
theEmRHERENEB LA ERER
AEFAEB@ER SN HAERBEEHN
BHAKXBROBRIEDEESFBEERE
R AR EAMNEBE P SEELER
SRR B0 MRS B AR
EHRRAANEFTAHMEERDZRERN
BE TATERYD EDREEE DL
AREStABmik- AEB T EIEEE
g AR E AB@ERNEHF LA

BARBHABENSMEED RS REH
KRR E B R I SRR
M—BAEER T > A ABERIENE
R o

REZPEIANEEFRICENEHEE
BENEAREIMEEFAGEEERE
hEEW IR R AET AN PR 7
T UERE -

EAE MR NER B E ZERE
TARENRENEBETRES FRIEREEA
MR T U BB DR B R A o g B 5t A T
EEF (FEE7) °

Annual Report 2022 FEERS 88



4 A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 435

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __"F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

84

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term; or

e on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee
contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to
their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge relationship.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost
or at FVTOCI. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of
the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated
individually based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forward-looking information at the reporting date, including time value
of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —ZE " F+_H=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, relevant
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic information
that relate to the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

e internal credit rating;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of
the same debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, i) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term, and ii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt asset to have low credit risk when the asset
has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available,
the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’ under the Group’s
current credit risk grading framework.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

e information developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZ —ZE " F+_H=+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
e a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data
adjusted by forward-looking information. As for the exposure at default,
for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying
amount at the reporting date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except
for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity

instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, on the first-in, first-out
basis, and net realisable value. Costs comprise direct materials and
the related purchase costs. In the case of finished goods and work
in progress, costs also include direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value of
inventories is based on estimated selling prices in ordinary course of
business less all estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of losses on tangible assets and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (‘CGU”) to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs,
with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that standard. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
the CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another standard, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that
standard.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and bank
balances comprise cash at bank and on hand.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash as defined above.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

EEFEHEER ()
W24 5B

W RE SR MUER PR M & B 8 AR R 5E B m 2 AR
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e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer e ¥ RIBAREZEK

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract o Fo¥: HAIENZEANEME

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price o FE3FH . EERSE

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance o FUF . RBRIBEOIREGHNZELN
obligations in the contract 51F

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a o HE5W I RERTERBOSER (IH

performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

e  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created and enhanced; or

e The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when control of the
products has transferred, which generally coincides with the time when
shipment is made, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products. Revenue is shown net of
value-added tax and after eliminating sales within the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits
Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group joins defined contribution retirement benefits schemes in
Hong Kong for those employees who are eligible and have elected
to participate in the schemes. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the participating employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the schemes. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in independently administered
funds. In respect of the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), the Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specific amount for the employees in Mainland
China, pursuant to the local municipal government regulations. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based
on performance and takes into consideration the segment result. The
Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are not relating to the acquisition, construction or

production of qualifying assets and are recognised as expenses in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from accounting profit because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items that are never taxable and deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred
tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

A5 R R MY 5E

FEEEE (@)
M|

FRiS 1 F Sz e RN RS I AR TR B SE AR TR 2 48
Mo

B HA FE A AR IE T AR 4 F 9 B9 BB SR AR gk F) 51
Bo-ERR M EGHENTE RRER
FEEEMFENRERTEALATNRN
HIEE PR BERRRR AR
BeoAEBHNARBEERUREMAREME
RBEBEEEMHIREGTE -

BERERUBBA Y BRRPEERS
RIREEEE AN B ERRER HAER
22 B E R E B BN I W ERR
B RERIEEBE—RMFAARRINEEZE
BAMESD EIEIRIBE E — MBI A A EES
FE SRR IEF LUK 85 AT 0 70 B By = BRI L B )
FAFfi 75 B #0176 B 5 7= 2A T e %0 0

EERIEE BT A B AR ENER
A0 G R 2= RA R BT M S & B B4 Ry = 2R
WL BERERTEAIRERERAAETR
FREOAGR) - BZEREAFMNTINRE
REHEENEERBESEENAIERE R
BRI FE SR A LAB B B B = BR RO Al 7 > L
Ko TRERE S P 3R R iR AR B (Bl 5 - 75 T BESE ©

BIERMBEEREAENSREARER I
SAEER B A B S R HERIREF LU
EEMAMDZIBEESLE

RN A AN RSHRGONEEREEEK
BENREENRBER

Annual Report 2022 FEERS 98



4 A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 435

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __"F+_F=+—HILFE

3.

94

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (i) different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the foreign exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of each reporting period. All exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair
value was measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency (Continued)

The results and financial position of all the Group’s foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

i)

i)

assets and liabilities for consolidated statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
each reporting period;

income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

all of the resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

3. EEGFEHER (&
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Related parties RS
a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to a) MBUTAL BIZALTHZALZE
the Group if that person: RO EE SRR
i) has control or joint control over the Group; ) RIS HEERAER
i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEBEEAZE,; 4
i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group iy AREEXNAXEERFTRAZEEE
or of a parent of the Group. BERME-
b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions b) MAFE NIMEMEG  BEEEAER

applies:

i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

B RAH:

) REREAFEEREBER-—S£EZNE
A8 BIEERE - WEBRARKRER
f /&8 A B 12 L R 7B A k) o

i) —EEEAS BRZHBEATR
BELE (AE—ERAMEAT
ZABBETHEZHERARNNEGE
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3.

96

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

iiiy both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

4.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the
borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in notes 24 and 26 and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically.
As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost
of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based on
the recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and new share issues.

The Group is not subject to either internally or externally imposed
capital requirements.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The
gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total debt less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital
is calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement of
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4. BEXEABER
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HE - BEARREREURE M FHAARRERS#E

financial position. metEo
2022 2021
—E-C ST
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBT
Cash and cash equivalents ReEKRIREEEER 95,686 49,741

Less: Ve

Bank borrowings IRITER (33,333) (64,989)
Lease liabilities HEaE (1,670) (663)
Net cash (debt) B (B FE 60,683 (15,911)
Total capital BEALEEE 136,421 148,345
Gearing ratio BEXRBMELEE N/A &R 10.7%

The Group maintained a net cash position as at 31 December 2022,
hence the gearing ratio is not applicable. There was no change in the
Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The categories of financial assets and financial liabilities included
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the

5. BHERAMREEERREE

(a) ST AER

SAGREVBRRARZEHEER TR
BENSERMEAZEBREEREN

headings in which they are included are as follows: TS
2022 2021
—E-HF s
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHRA S EC ERMEE
— Trade and other receivables — B35 RHEMEWIIE 3,372 45,733
— Cash and bank balances — NS KM IR1TAEER 95,686 97,546
99,058 143,279
Financial assets at FVTPL BARESABRIRZEHMEE
— Listed equity securities at FVTPL —BAAEFABRIEZ
RS 1,329 1,747
— Financial derivatives at FVTPL — B AREFAEBRIEZ
ETRITETE - 377
1,329 2,124
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAnEst A AHEMEZEKkEZ
TREE
— Trade receivables — B S RERHE 38,950 =
2022 2021
—F-C T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Financial liabilities A=k
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BBIER AT EZ ERAE
— Trade and other payables —EB S REMENRIE 66,363 58,183
- Bank borrowings —IRITEMR 33,333 64,989
99,696 123,172
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. MERKREBEERBE (B)
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) BAFEEIEEIEBIRREE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and bank balances, listed
equity securities at FVTPL, financial derivatives at FVTPL, trade
and other payables and bank borrowings. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
capital expenditure and operations. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and price risk). The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at banks,
bank deposits and trade and other receivables. Management has
a credit policy in place and the exposure to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

Cash at banks and bank deposits are placed with licensed
financial institutions with high credit ratings. The Group monitors
the exposure to each single financial institution.

Credit checks are part of the normal operating process and
stringent monitoring procedures are in place to deal with overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amounts
of trade and other debtors at the end of each reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __"F+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Loss allowances for trade receivables are based on
management’s estimate of the expected credit losses to be
incurred, which involved the estimate of probability of default, loss
given default and forward looking adjustments.

Management estimated these parameters by taking into account
the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history and customers’ financial position
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions.

In the Group’s trade receivable balance as at 31 December 2022,
99% (2021: 99%) of the total trade receivables is due from the
Group’s largest customer. There are no other customers who
represent more than 5% of the total trade receivable balance as
at the end of the reporting periods. The credit risk is limited due
to long-established relationship and good credit worthiness for the
largest customer.

For other receivables, the Group has assessed whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

o internal credit rating

o actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations

o actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the borrower
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA 7SR R I =%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

5. BHERAMREEERREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

o significant increase in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the borrower

o significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers in the Group.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has maintained the
Group’s credit risk grading to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
drawn from the Group’s own trading records to rate its customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of
its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

(b) MIERAMEEBZEREE (&)
FEEmRE (%)

e MEBRANEMEMTAZEERR
AIRLE N

s ERMANBHEERTAELEEAKR
1t BEERARKTEBRBN IR
R TAYEEAE

mE/NMEEERE  AEBEBEHERAE
EpEE R R R URREN R BIZ
BRSO E EETRERKE
ALGHEEE R RAMEBAZEER
KENRZZaik rERFEERER
ZHZRBKREER MATENR S
BERADHMNRERZH 2

AEBBAMNEEREBTRIERSEN
NER

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL

5 iU HRFEREEGENESE

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not 12-month ECL
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

B# HRENRBRBRESNEVRRER LR ESREARBRAZEN Bl 12@8EAEEHE
RELCEERENEHEE BRE—RE)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in Lifetime ECL — not credit
credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

RS HNBEVGEESUREERBBEERN T RELEERENET 2PEREERBE-LIEEE
M E BRE MR VEALEN

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or more Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

R EERL—HILEHZEENGS ARREEREERFMNEEN 2HEHEEHFEBEE8
EHE EMEERTILRAEEERE BRE=RE) VEALEN

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

4 BEERBERF BB AERNBRENMHRE MAERTREER M8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

e BRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ_—_T —"F+_HA=+—HILEE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity level to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and bank balances for its daily operation and investment
purposes.

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet
liabilities as they fall due, and it results from amount and maturity
mismatches of assets and liabilities.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient
bank balances.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the
reporting period.

(b)

5. BHERAMREEBRREE (&)

M EREREBIRREBER (8)

THEZ/EE

FEBZHERAEREEEMHAERM
HESKT UEFARREHEEBRERE
BMRE BN RIRITAE RS

MBETRARARELESETUZN
RNz ERZAR MEREER
BRZMEARII B N RAFTE -

BERDETRABEERKREETESN
IRITHEBR

%ES%EZIS%@?ETEE%%Q%%E’*%E%

AR RGANTERRE FGRATE
E‘JHH = E%ﬁ%’]m%ﬂ&ifﬁiﬁﬁméﬁ’ﬂt&
EEEXMZRERS-

ZRBENERASRERM - HHE R
BRFHAE BIRERNEERER
HHEIRA A KRR o

2022
—g==
Total More
contractual Within than 1 year
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or but less than
amount cash flow on demand 5 years
BHIIERRIR R—FRA Eie—5
REE REREHRE REER EBERAFERA
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Trade and other payables 85 R EMENR 66,363 66,363 66,363 -
Bank borrowings RITEMN 33,333 33,333 33,333 -
99,696 99,696 99,696 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,670 1,743 775 968
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

5. BHERAMREEERREE (&)

(b) MIERAMEEBZEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) THEE LR ()
2021
T

Total More
contractual Within than 1 year
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or but less than
amount cash flow on demand 5 years
BHIFERLIR R—FRN BE—F
fREE ReRSHREE REER EBRAFA
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHIT FHBIT FHB7T FHT
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMENRIE 58,183 58,183 58,183 =
Bank borrowings RITEM 64,989 64,989 64,989 =
123,172 123,172 123,172 -
Lease liabilities HESE 663 668 668 -

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “within 1 year or on demand” time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank borrowings
amounted to HK$33,333,000 (2021: HK$64,989,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of
the Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe that such bank
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time,
the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
HK$34,354,000 (2021: HK$65,095,000).

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits, bank borrowings and lease
liabilities. The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary action when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
bank deposits and bank balances.

EERBEREBEIZEBTERT
ALZIHADH T—FEARRIIZER]
2HBER RZ_ZT__F£+=-H
=t+—H ZERTEFRINELS
42%8733,333,0008 75 (B - —4F :
64,989,000/ 7T) ° & 5t B AN E B 2 B 75
R RATBEERDBBT I ARABET
FHEBEERIZNER AATES
RABRIRITENGRBER HETE
2HREEEHBEEZE BF S~ &F
B &t E& R 21 5E34,354,000%8 7T
ZE T —1 65,095,000 7T) ©

Ve 3

HMEHARMEERNFERIRTER
RITERKEEEENAREN XA
B o A &= IR B 0 A R PR o 24
m: EEEEENRARKFNERE
BRE AT @RS E B H MU BT -

AEEE Y BRTERRIEITERA R
RIREREF KRG
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Management does not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest rates because
the interest rates at bank deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

The Group’s bank borrowings do not use floating interest rate.
Foreign currency risk

5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have sales and
subcontracting arrangement transacted in United States dollar
(“US$”). In addition, several subsidiaries of the Company have US$
bank balances. It does not expose the Group to material foreign
currency risk as HK$, the functional currency of the relevant group
entities, is pegged to US$, and therefore no sensitivity analysis has
been prepared for US$ against HKS$.

In addition, the Group had bank borrowings denominated in Euro
(“EUR”) which also expose the Group to foreign currency risk. If
a 5% increase/decrease in EUR against Renminbi (“RMB”) (the
functional currency of the relevant group entity as borrower) and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss after tax for
the year would increase/decrease by approximately HK$693,000
as at 31 December 2021 (2022: nil).

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. The Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and uses
derivative financial instruments (foreign currency forward contracts)
to hedge risk arising from fluctuations in foreign currency change
rates should the need arise. If a 5% increase/decrease in US$
against the RMB and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s loss after tax for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$584,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2022: nil).

/] 04 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =13 HRAE]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. MERKREBEERBE (B)
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) MIERAMEEBZEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from listed equity
securities classified as financial assets at FVTPL (see note 20).
These investments are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period with reference to the quoted price. Management
monitors this exposure and takes appropriate actions when it is
required.

If price in respect of listed equity securities had been 10% (2021:
10%) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2022
would decrease/increase by HK$133,000 (2021: post-tax loss for
the year would decrease/increase by HK$175,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to quoted price on its listed
equity securities.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the
reasonably possible changes in price had occurred as at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to
price risk for the financial instruments in existence at that date
and that all other variables remain constant. The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible
changes in price over the period until the end of the next reporting
period.

1E1& Bz

AEEMHREBEDERBZAAMES A
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(RfzE20) - ZERESEREBERN
BREPVRZANEFE-BEEEEER
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BRI B BB R 18 0175,0005%8
70 W FEERRAEBRE EHRA
B ZIREFTEE Z RS

FRERBEDRRERGENEZSHE
RRERTEREERBRARZBFE
ZEMTITEZERERMRIEAEMES
MR REMT UEE i 2815 818
BHGEFELZHEE TEARSHTE
Ry 2 BARIBAR Z (&5t o

Annual Report 2022 FEERE /I O5



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5.

POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position

Fair value hierarchy and assets measured at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of each reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

rEa B ERRMEE
E_E__HAH=1+—HIFE

MBRAKREEBRREE (@)

() REEMBRRREIDZAAMENE

RAEERRIEAA BT ERE

TRETAEBMPN SR G HTAEFRE
EUHEEABNESRIBEAAE AHF
AAREREBYHFREENFEIZEA
AESFEBIMREZARE=ZREBFR

ETDEE
Fair value at
31 December Fair value measurement as at
2022 31 December 2022 categorised into
RZgZZ
+=B=+—H WZE-Z+ZRB=+—HZ2
ZARE AREHERBUATER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B B B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FER FER FERT
Recurring fair value measurement @ E AR EF =
Assets: BE .
Financial assets at FVTPL BRADEFABREZ
THEE
Listed equity securities EHRAES 1,329 1,329 - -
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRASEFAEMEEETR
ZEMBE
Trade receivables B EWREIE 38,950 - 38,950 -
40,279 1,329 38,950 -
Fair value at
31 December Fair value measurement as at
2021 31 December 2021 categorised into
S
+ZB=+—H N B —F+Z“HB=+—HzZ
ZARE AAEFEDBUTER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ER Bk BE=H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value measurement &£ AR E 2
Assets: BE .
Financial assets at FVTPL RAREFABREZ
TREE
Listed equity securities EHRAES 1,747 1,747 = =
Financial derivatives ERITETH 377 - 377 =
2,124 1,747 377 -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

A5 R R MY 5E

5. BHERAMREEERREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were
no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair
value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other financial instruments
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair
value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Estimation of fair values

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instrument on a recurring basis

() REEMBRRARERDZAAENE

(&)

REEZE-__FK_ZF_—F+°H
—t+—HIESEERTEE—BRANEZ
Mz ER-

LTHEEIAERAAEIIER
R_EBE-__FERr_ZFT_—%F+_H
=t+—H AEBZzHEMESMTERE
BUEHERATE BAEA BN EE
RERo

1BEF AAE

SHEESMTERECEMHEEN R AEE
BFFRANGERZRBAERT W

are set out below: T
Fair value as at
[RE
Financial Fair value Valuation technique
Instruments hierarchy 31/12/2022 31/12/2021 and key inputs
—E2-- —E-—5F
£MTITE RAEER +=B=+—H +=B=+—H LB = R AR A B
Listed equity securities Level 1 HK$1,329,000 HK$1,747,000 Quoted bid prices in an active
market
R AES F—4R 1,329,00038 7T 1,747,000 7t  JREEMIHZPHIRE
Financial derivatives Level 2 - HK$377,000 The present value of future cash
— foreign currency flows based on the forward
forward contracts exchange rates taking into
account the credit risk of
counterparty
EMITETR BT - 377,000  stRHEFHEERRILU
SNEIEHR G A EHEXGFENRKIRE
mERE
Trade receivables Level 2 HK$38,950,000 - Based on discounted cash
flow and the discount rate
which have been adjusted for
counterparty or own credit
risk
B 5’ WIE B 38,950,000 7T -  HSEEFZENAAEEER

HiREEE FIEARNMKIRE
EHHTZHFREINGE
FREBET T R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

6. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 6. HHTHEREZZEERR

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in
the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of trade receivables

The impairment provisions for trade receivables are based on
assumptions about ECL. Loss allowances for trade receivables are
based on management’s estimate of the expected credit losses to
be incurred, which involved the estimate of probability of default, loss
given default and forward looking adjustments.

Management estimated these parameters by taking into account the
credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables, customers’
repayment history and customers’ financial position and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic conditions.

Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially affect
the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make
additional impairment charge to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. At 31 December 2022,
the carrying amount of trade receivables is HK$38,950,000 (2021:
HK$40,356,000). At 31 December 2022, impairment loss of trade
receivables is nil (2021: nil).

1 08 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =13 HRAE]
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6.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Provision for inventories

The management of the Group reviews an ageing analysis at the end
of each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete and slow-
moving items identified. The management estimates the net realisable
value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amount of inventories was approximately HK$43,791,000
(2021: HK$60,532,000) (net of impairment provision of approximately
HK$2,309,000 (2021: HK$971,000).

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment (other than buildings carried at revalued
amount) and right-of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a loss of
HK$7,625,000.The management considered this as an indicator of
impairment and performs an impairment assessment accordingly.
Management determined the recoverable amounts of the CGU to
which these assets belong based on the higher of their estimate of
the value-in-use and the fair value less costs of disposal. The value-
in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to generate from the CGU and an appropriate discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash flows.
In addition, the Group engaged an independent valuer to perform the
valuation on the land use rights classified under right-of-use assets
and buildings. Based on the estimation of the recoverable amount of
the CGU, the management determined that no impairment of these
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is required.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, an
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets were HK$59,081,000
and HK$9,571,000 (2021: HK$69,874,000 and HK$9,886,000)
respectively.

A5 R R MY 5E

6.
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6.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the Company
review the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment. The
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment with finite useful life
as at 31 December 2022 is HK$59,081,000 (2021: HK$69,874,000).
The estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of properties, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The management of the Group will increase the depreciation charge
where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives. Technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned will be
written-off or written-down. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives.

Buildings in property, plant and equipment carried at valuation

Buildings included in property, plant and equipment are revalued at
the end of the reporting period based on depreciated replacement
cost basis by an independent professional valuer. These valuations
were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty
and might materially differ from the actual results. At 31 December
2022, the carrying amount of properties measured at fair value was
approximately HK$47,667,000 (2021: HK$57,683,000) and fair value
loss for the year then ended was approximately HK$422,000 (2021: fair
value gain HK$11,994,000). The methods and significant assumptions
used by valuers in estimating the fair value of properties are set out in
note 17.

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future.
In cases where the actual future profits generated are greater than
expected, a material recognition of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for period in which such a
recognition takes place.

/] 1 O Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =13 HRAE]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

7.

REVENUE 7. Wi
Revenue recognised during the year is as follows: RERNBRZWHZIWT :
2022 2021
=~ ———
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHNz
Revenue from garment manufacturing and trading”: AR E &R E 5 2 Wa*:
Sale of garment products $HE B IXE S 498,899 440,402
Sale of scrap materials HEBEEYE 420 692
499,319 441,094
Revenue from other sources H{th 2 5 2z I 25
Securities investment: BHEEE
Fair value loss on equity investment at FVTPL BAnRBESTABRIRZ
ETRHEEANERBE (418) (61)
Dividend income from listed equity securities B LEmRAFSZKRERA 123 138
(295) 77
499,024 441,171
Revenue from garment manufacturing and trading is recognised at a point in time. PRI BL IS B B2 5 2 W 2 O A B RS B e o
Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance PEEFGFBHASEZXRBENE
obligations
The sales contracts are with an original expected duration of one year HESHNNRTAHERA —FTHERE &
or less. Accordingly, the Group has selected the practical expedient It FEBEZTEREHIRENA L XK

and has not disclosed the amount of transaction price allocated to
the performance obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the

reporting period.

REBERSHRDOBERRBETEOED
R ZEREEE
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8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
operation nature, specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as
follows:

1. Garment manufacturing and trading
2. Securities investment

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of adjusted operating results. This measurement
basis represented operating loss excluding material gain or loss which

is capital in nature or of non-recurring nature such as impairment.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable operating segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

RA 75 R = MY 5E

S EE

MATES TESERKE (TEEE
REE)) EREDEERKT 42 ERIR
ZEREPREENE LER AEEN
AR E BT ¢

1. HMRUERES

2. H"HRE
TERERARE R SRS BT
HEENH T RB I HEERREEH
BreEBEAMEREEEHEZEAN
MOS8 (W E) o

BT 55 8 2 @ 5B BRI BEORT i 2 A 2
B BH AR -

53 EBUR i R 3 4R

UTRHAREEEDMHEAERZ WK
HEEZ Do

BE_ZT-_—_#+_-B=+—HILFE

Garment
manufacturing Securities

and trading investment Total

FRREER
g5 HERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’°000
FERT FET F#ET

REVENUES &

Reportable segment revenue-external AR & 9 ZpUR R — IME6 499,319 (295) 499,024
Reportable segment profit (loss) AR &5 EpAE (B518) 5,641 (5,018) 623
Unallocated other income and gains KO Z EMKA KW &= 656
Corporate administrative expenses PETHRAZ (8,845)
Finance income FRE IR A 2
Finance expense MEMZ (61)
Loss before tax PRI ATES 18 (7,625)
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8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

A5 R R MY 5E

8. SEEN (&)
S EBU R H AR ()

BE_E-_—F+-HA=+—RHLEE

Garment
manufacturing Securities

and trading investment Total

AR K B AE R
B5 BHEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET TET

REVENUES 1§74

Reportable segment revenue-external  AJ 3R &5 D ZpURE - SMEB 441,094 7 441,171
Reportable segment profit (loss) A RS0 EHE (B8 13,830 (4,884) 8,946
Unallocated other income and gains RO Bz E AU A K U & 1,117
Corporate administrative expenses PETHEAX (10,004)
Finance expense MBS (78)
Loss before tax BRA5 A5 18 (19)

Segment profit (loss) represents the profit (loss) from each segment
without allocation of corporate administrative expenses, certain other
income and gains and certain finance income and expense. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

DEFE (B1R) 38R D EBFTELERE (BHR)
WEDEEETHAS B THEMBA R
BERETHRERARBX LHERTER
EERREMERD SRR EPAAE
VabzAs
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8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

RA 75 R = MY 5E

8. AEEH (&)

53 BB UG Re F 4R (48)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable UTFAZAREEENIHEAERZEED
operating segments. #re
2022 2021
-~ B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT TFET
ASSETS BE
Garment manufacturing and trading segment assets AR ELIE R B 5 D2 E E 240,428 275,323
Securities investment segment assets BHEREDHEE 2,883 3,734
Unallocated corporate assets RAPOEABEE 11,415 10,168
Consolidated total assets FEMREE 254,726 289,225
LIABILITIES af&
Garment manufacturing and trading segment RN EREZDIHEER
liabilities 98,280 122,222
Securities investment segment liabilities ESREDH AR 325 102
Unallocated corporate liabilities b AN /N=TR=KI=| 19,700 18,556
Consolidated total liabilities R h=L= 118,305 140,880

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

e All assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain
property, plant and equipment, certain right-of-use assets, cash
and bank balances managed on central basis, and head office
assets.

e All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain

lease liabilities, accruals, deferred tax liabilities and head office
liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 8. NEEF (&)

Other segment information Hitho B E
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment Unallocated Total
For the year ended BE_T-—
31 December 2022 +ZA=+—HLEFE HERRERES EHRE K7 fast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#ET T#ET T#ET TET
Amounts included in the measure of 3 EDEEERFFAN
segment results: I
Finance income MEUWA 644 - 2 646
Finance expense RERY (4,428) - (61) (4,489)
Other income =GN 1,278 232 656 2,166
Depreciation of property, ME--BERZEBEZINE
plant and equipment (10,012) (251) (609) (10,872)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE (247) - (1,311) (1,558)
Additions to property, ME- -BERREZRE
plant and equipment 1,318 - 918 2,236
Provision for inventories GFERE (1,402) - - (1,402)
Additions to right-of-use assets FHEEEZRE - - 2,130 2,130
Garment
manufacturing Securities
and trading investment Unallocated Total
For the year ended HE_Z &
31 December 2021 +ZA=+—HIFE HKRREKES BHRE KN HaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Amounts included in the measure of 3 tENIPEERHAN
segment results: TIE
Finance income E=CON 187 - - 187
Finance expense MERS (1,733) = (78) (1,811)
Other income HAA 3,803 - 1,117 4,920
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERZEZITE
plant and equipment (7,500) (60) (613) (8,173)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE (256) - (2,224) (2,480)
Additions to property, ME- -BERREZRE
plant and equipment 2,699 103 = 2,802
Provision for inventories GFERE (667) - - (667)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %3 &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year contributing over

RA 75 R = MY 5E

8. SEEN (&)
BEMEEERZHN

REEFEHAERBWEEMBEI0%Z

10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: ZER@UWT :
2022 2021
—®-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Customer A' ZHA 498,607 438,629
1 Revenue from garment manufacturing and trading. L PRI B IS B B2 5 W o
Geographical information Ih s &

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the geographical location of the shipping
destination. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is
presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

EREAERRBIIBERHRDERREE
BBt PTE Mt 25 o 5 B 4 £ B IR &)
BEENBHRBEEEMRTEMES -

Revenues from external

customers Non-current assets*

AEER K FERBNEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —EZ—F k- Jomn =&
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET FTERT FHET
USA = 313,947 258,494 = =
Mainland China R B A 292 1,534 63,280 73,029
Europe B 105,690 118,350 - -
Hong Kong 5% 26,191 21,576 3,780 4,835
Other regions Hihith & 52,904 46,217 1,592 1,896
499,024 441,171 68,652 79,760

Non-current assets excluded financial instruments. FRBEEFOEEMIA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA 7SR R I =%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

9. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 9. Hthlr AR —i$%8

2022 2021
—g-= s
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TFAT

Losses on disposal of property, HEME BERRBZER
plant and equipment (7) -
Government subsidies! BT 48 B 632 109
Interest income from structured deposits EBMEERA B WA - 427
Consultancy fee? s &2 - 300
Secondment service fee? BRRE & 469 817

Fair value gain on financial derivatives at FVTPL BRAMESFABRIRZ

ERITETAZARERE 96 366
Compensation from customer KERTFNEEE 1,335 -
Compensation from suppliers REHEEENEE - 964
Exchange (losses) gain, net ER (B518) Wam o /358 (359) 1,560
Others HAth - 377
2,166 4,920

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised government grants
of HK$632,000, of which an amount of HK$424,000 is related to Employment Support
Scheme provided by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. The remaining government subsidies of approximately
HK$208,000 were received from the PRC government and were designated for the
encouragement of business development (2021: HK$109,000).

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts of
those subsidies.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group provided consultancy service
related to garment manufacturing business operation (2022: nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group provided secondment
service of personnel involved in securities investment for a fixed period of time pursuant
to secondment service agreements.

! BE_Z-_FE+-FA=+—HLEFE > ~EBEH®
SR BY 7 iR 07 55 4E B 4 Rk B 58 BT 4 BN632,000 4
7% H A& 88424,0007% 7t 8 & A 517 B & BUF 72
MEESBE TREN MR E) S BIER - FIERHN
208,000 7T BUF AL PEIBUFIREY (Z T = —4£ ¢
109,000/ 7T) » AN GBI HEFERE

WSBR B 55 B 0 S U R BRI R R ELth B A SR
Ho

2 BE_B_—F+_BA=+—HUEFE xERRMH
B RMEEBEEFMZEARE CE__F:

®) o
s WEIEC_ER-E-—H+"B=+—HALHF

B AEBRBERRE SR REERRNESR
HEAEERRSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI =%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

10. FINANCE EXPENSE, NET 10. MBI B8
2022 2021
—E-CHF s
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FBT
Interest income on short-term bank deposit FRHARTTIER ZFIE WA 646 187
Total finance income HRE WA 646 187
Interest expense on borrowings Bz ERZ (4,428) (1,703)
Interest expense on employee’s loan advances BEERBRZHEME - (30)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaBZMERZ (61) (78)
Total finance expense HRERE (4,489) (1,811)
Finance expense, net FERXZ B (3,843) (1,624)
11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 1. R AT 8
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging: FRIAIES B E R TH &R IE !
2022 2021
—E-C B
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TET
Auditor's remuneration Z BB = 993 933
Depreciation on: e -
- Property, plant and equipment —ME- -BERRE 10,872 8,173
- Right-of-use assets —FREEE 1,558 2,480
12,430 10,653
Employee benefits expenses EBERMNMZ (BEESHD)
(including directors’ emoluments)
— Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind — e EMREYET 78,855 67,352
— Contributions to retirement benefits schemes — B RER B 3,114 2,256
Total staff costs BT R A48%E 81,969 69,608
Cost of inventories recognised in profit or EIRmERPERZFERL
loss (including provision for inventories of (BEEE#E1,402,0008 T
HK$1,402,000 (2021: HK$667,000)) T —4 : 667,0005%7T)) 316,323 282,076
Subcontracting and processing charges DERMIER 102,478 98,007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA 7SR R I =%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

12.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no forfeiture
of retirement benefit scheme contribution (by employers on behalf
of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) in the Group. As at 31 December 2022, no forfeited
contribution under the retirement benefit schemes of the Group is
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

11. BRI AIES 18 (48)
BE_ T F+_A=+—HIEEE &
& B R WE AR AR A 5T Bl (T (R e

FHARERHRTUEENRLAEZ(ES
) -R-B__F+_A=+—H 4&
B 2R R H 58N I B R ORI AR
FATS 30 IR SRR S 2 PR

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES 12.EEREETHASHME

EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ emoluments of the Group are as follows:

FERBEEZMEFBEUT

2022
—ECCE
Employer’s
Salaries contribution
and other to the MPF
Fees benefits Bonus scheme Total
R S
g H{thig# i} {EE M st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TERT TET TET
Executive directors: HITESR .
Mr. Li Haifeng FERAEE RZEZ=F
(Resigned on 1 February 2023) ZB—H#) 120 1,849 4,000 18 5,987
Mr. Tsang Hing Bun BEELE (RIS ZF
(Appointed on 1 July 2022 and Tt A—HEZERRE
resigned on 1 February 2023) “E-=E"FA—A#D 120 - - - 120
Non-executive director: ERiTES:
Mr. Wang Ke IREE RS =F
(Resigned on 1 February 2023) “BE—B#E) 240 - - - 240
Independent non-executive BiERmES:
directors:
Mr. Wang Shiming FHELEE (RZ2Z=5F
(Resigned on 1 February 2023) ZB—H#) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu XBEE (RZBZ=F
(Resigned on 1 February 2023) “BE—B#E) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Yu Ping Ming RERRE(RZEBZZF
(Appointed on 1 August 2022 and NE—BEZERR
resigned on 1 February 2023) —E_=F£_A—B#D 100 - - - 100
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RIRELE WZEZZF
(Resigned on 1 August 2022) NB—B#E) 70 - - - 70
1,010 1,849 4,000 18 6,877
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & Bt 7% 3R 3R M 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

12.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

R.EERESTHAESME (B)

2021
“EC—F
Employer’s
Salaries contribution
and other to the MPF
Fees benefits Bonus scheme Total
a0 D53 RS
we Ht @7 L BEHER 1z
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiET TER TAET ThET TAET
Executive directors: HiTES.
Mr. Li Haifeng FEALE 120 1,845 = 18 1,983
Mr. Wang Ke (Re-designated from FREE (RZE—F
an executive director to +—A—BRUTES
a non-executive director on AEAERTES)
1 November 2021) 200 411 - 15 626
Non-executive director: FRTES:
Mr. Wang Ke (Re-designated from TREE (RZE—F
an executive director to +—A—BRUTES
a non-executive director on AEAERTES)
1 November 2021) 40 - - - 40
Independent non-executive BUEHTES:
directors:
Mr. Wang Shiming FittBgLE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu BRI 240 - - - 240
Mr. Zhang Zhenyi RiRZETE 120 - - - 120
840 2,256 - 33 3,129
Notes: P aE :

HEERHEES FRBARABHENBAR) BAHEA
BRI MES I HER Z EEM %

Fees represent emoluments of directors paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as
a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings.

FEAAETRERDTHAEH  BEXFREZMEE
BHBEETHASREURBZ N ReAFHESES
ZHRRARAQARRLEEEATETE

Mr. Li Haifeng is also the chief executive officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.
The discretionary bonus is determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to his
performance and the Company’s operating results.

BE_B__FR-F_—E+_A=+—HLEEFE #
BEERESTHRASRERRAERELEEZ G ZEM
ME - BE—_B_—_FR-F-_—F+_A=+—HLHF
B AERBRAENESRRSITHRAS -GN
T ERREINBRINBEAERSRIERE  SEDBER

fHe

None of the directors and chief executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments paid
by the Group during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. No emoluments were
paid or payable by the Group to any directors and chief executive as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of the office during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals in the Company include one (2021:
two) executive directors for the year ended 31 December 2022, details
of whose emoluments have been disclosed in note 12 above.

The details of the emoluments for the year of remaining four (2021:
three) highest paid individuals who are neither director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

A5 R R MY 5E

13. EE &

BE_E__F#+_A=+—HLEFE &
ARAEERHFMALEE % (C2"—
F 1 WR) WITES A EFIBI EXMEE
12982 o

BHTNg (CE—F =8) RaimMAL
(BREERABEETFRSITERAL) RF
RZMEFBEWT ¢

2022 2021
—E-C s
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TET
Salaries and other benefits e e HhEF 4,216 2,427
Retirement benefit scheme contribution BIREF) 5B R 66 54
4,282 2,481
Their emoluments were within the following bands: e EwT
2022 2021
—®-= =
No. of No. of
employee employee
EEAH BEAH
HK$ nil to HK$1,000,000 231,000,000 75 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 £1,500,00078 75 1 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA SR R MI =%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FR1GIRBX

Group entities which are either registered or incorporated in Hong Kong
are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax. Under the two tiered profits tax
rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in those places in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof. In general, the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the Mainland
China (“PRC”) are subject to the Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25%.

No tax is payable on the profit for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 arising in Hong Kong and PRC since the assessable profit
is wholly absorbed by tax losses brought forward. At the end of the
reporting period, tax losses carried forward amount to approximately
HK$121,923,000.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income is as follows:

REBELNEML I 2 & BB AW
ERNFR-BEMRFINSREFNE > &
BEREBEBREANE2,000,000% 70iaE R 12
8.25%RI R KR > MiB#E2,000,00078 7T HY
5 ) % 1216.5 % BI B R IR o T & Wy 4R
MERHNENERBRZH S ERBIZ16.5%
R — IR IR o

BREEBIINZ ERIREF ZMIB T
EHEEMBME 2 RTRIREBMIRT
IE RENEAGE —RMmE > AEER
FREARE (TR ) &8 2 M8 AR ZAR25%
ZMREMEEPIEH

BE_Z__GRIZZ—HFF+ZA=+—
HEFEESANPEEENF BEES
B EAAEZRRIBE2BHEEREEE
FriEtl e R EHAR  AERIEBENS
121,923,000/ 7T ©

FFEERBEMX ARG Rm REMEEBA
TABFRAIGEEZHROT ¢

2022 2021

ot St - 3 —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FHBT

Loss before taxation BRI Bl ES 18 (7,625) (19)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable MATEER MeREMERRE

in the respective jurisdictions FTEZRIE (745) 398

Tax effect of income not taxable AR A Z RIE R 2 (101) (23)

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible AERAZZRNIEFE 1,955 2,845

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERMEBIBZNELE 576 558

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously F MBI R ERRIEEIEZ
unrecognised RIEFE (1,685) (3,778)
Tax expenses for the year FEMRIBMAS - =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & Bt 7% 3R 3R M 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

15.LOSS PER SHARE 15. §iq 548

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on the SREAN M EHEELBE FISRH ¢
following data:

2022 2021
—E-C -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Group AEEEEFEA ABGSE (7,625) (19)
Number Number
of shares of shares
3V E 4= ERE4=
’000 000
TFhg T
Number of shares RiZEE
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic FEfEstEESRER K #EHEEN
and diluted loss per share @R EE 818,042 818,042
The number of shares for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per HRAEERMEFEESREBTIZER K
share is the same as the Group has no potential ordinary shares in both HFEEREAREEHEENRDBEER -
years.
16. DIVIDEND 16. i 2
2022 2021
== B
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TET
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year: £ A B2 Z I8 B HEC :
2022 Interim — HK$0.002 20225 I H—& f20.0027% 75
(2021: Interim dividend — nil) per share (2021 HARG B—5%) 1,636 -
Except for the interim dividend paid as mentioned above, no dividend bR EAURENHRRARKREN BEZS -2 4F
was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 December 2022, nor +ZB=+—HItFEWERENERIKE
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period RE BREBPRURTERZZKE (T
(2021: nil). ) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & Bt 7% 3R 3R M 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ_—_T _—"F+_HA=+—HIEE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.ME -BERSE
Furniture,
office
equipment,
Leasehold Plant and vessel and
Buildings improvements machinery motor vehicles Total
i MAZE
By
1#¥F HE%E BERKE RSE )
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET TAET THET THET THERT
At 1 January 2021 RZ2-—%—HF—H
Cost or valuation MATGE 51,9056 28,005 21,086 36,979 137,975
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  Et T E Ri(E - (24,625) (20,2835) (30,378) (75,238)
Carrying value REE 51,9056 3,380 851 6,601 62,737
Year ended 31 December 2021 HECZ_-F
+ZA=+—HIEEE
Opening net book amount HaRE R E 51,905 3,380 851 6,601 62,737
Additions B - 920 812 1,070 2,802
Depreciation e (6,574) (170) (136) (1,293) 6,173)
Currency translation differences ERER 358 101 22 33 514
Revaluation surplus BB 11,094 = = = 11,994
Carrying value RAEE 57,683 4,231 1,549 6,417 69,874
At 31 December 2021 RIBZ—-£+-F=+—H
Cost or valuation AL E 57,683 29,580 22,413 38,582 148,258
Accumulated depreciation and impairment Rt E RiE(E = (25,349) (20,864) (82,171) (78,384)
Carrying value REE 57,683 4,231 1,549 6,411 69,874
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E__F
+ZA=+—BLEE
Opening net book amount HRVIERE S E 57,683 4,231 1,549 6,411 69,874
Additions B - 1,019 474 743 2,236
Disposal HE - - - (7) )
Depreciation e (8,383) (419) (220) (1,850) (10,872)
Currency translation differences EREB (1,211) 315 (83) (119) (1,728)
Revaluation losses EEE (422) = = = (422)
Carrying value REE 47,667 4,516 1,720 5178 59,081
At 31 December 2022 RIZZZFE+ZA=1+—H
Cost or valuation AT (5 (E 47,667 29,508 20,955 35,801 133,931
Accumulated depreciation and impairment Rt E Ri(E - (24,092 (19,285) (30,623) (74,850)
Carrying value fREE 47,667 4516 1,720 5,178 59,081
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA 7SR R I =%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 17. 9% - BEREE (@)

Notes

hEsd
i) The Group’s buildings comprise: i) FERMZBFEIE !
2022 2021
—8__f —E- &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Buildings in PRC RHPEZEF 47,667 57,683

ii) Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on the straight-line basis to
allocate cost to their residual value over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings Over the estimated useful life
Leasehold improvements 5% - 33'/3% p.a.
Plant and machinery 10% - 40% p.a.
Furniture, office equipment, vessel and 10% — 40% p.a.
motor vehicles

Buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at
the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The fair values of the buildings as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that
date by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“Vigers”), independent
qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. Vigers is
a member of the Institute of Valuers. The valuation was arrived at by
valuation techniques and assumptions as discussed below.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the
prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s finance department includes a team that review the
valuations performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. This team reports directly to the board of directors.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
valuation team and valuer annually.

If the buildings had not been revalued, they would have been included
in these consolidated financial statements at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation of HK$11,296,000 (2021: HK$14,201,000).

i) MEF BERREZMERTILRNAGSAIRE
HUBERER R A D #E R ERE

= {5t B A AR 1
HEEE BFE5%—33"/:%
B 55 Tz 14 28 FE10%—40%
R HAERME

MR A= BFE10%—40%

BFZHEMERIR NELBRZAR
B BREMHEBRRAFTERHER RS RER
e

BFER_E__FR_E-_—H+=A8
=+ —HZARETHIE Ik 5 A £ [ 1 FEBE &
BN EESERGEMESETE ETEE
BARAR (TE&H) Rz BET 2 EmES
RER BN EEMPIRE - EHETD
A TREES ARBRERE -

HESEBRRNBEFEMRBELEEH -

PGS MEZRAREMS  WEZRBRER
EERBHEERZER -

FEEMBHRE —E/NE EERTHR
HENMBEIEIL (G EMZ GEETEN &
NEBEERESEER - - (HE/)ERGEERD
SESmEERENERGER -

i FREEMS > ERIEELMARRTIT
££11,296,0007 75 (Z =~ —4 : 14,201,000
BT stAZE R BREK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %3 &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s buildings that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into fair value hierarchy
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value
measurements are observable is as follows:

RA 75 R = MY 5E

17.ME - BERSRE (B

FEBRYTEIRZAANEFENBFT
BRBAREFEWABRBENTEREE DS
EARERBE-—HRESE=

REIDATIT

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2022 categorised into

RIE__F+_-_A=+—HAAEHESES

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B B4R B4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#T TF#ET FHET
Recurring fair value REEAREHE
measurement
Buildings — PRC 1BF—H - = 47,667
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2021 categorised into
N B —F+_A=+—HARBEFEDER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E—#R B BE=4
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT
Recurring fair value BEHQARENE
measurement
Buildings - PRC BF—r - - 57,683

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy during
the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & BA 7SR R I =%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of properties:

17. ¥ -BERSE (B

P B (b (B 5 i Fe 1) 26 (i (B = 28 A B RHEE
mr

Valuation Significant
Properties techniques unobservable inputs
EY/ES & B R i EXFAERZBAER

Range

&E

Relationship of
key inputs

and significant
unobservable
inputs to fair value
FTEBAETHRK
EXFAHEZ
HWAER A
DRAEZMEF

Buildings — PRC Depreciated replacement

cost approach

TERBRAE

Construction costs per
square meter

— Based on the type of
building structure (steel
structure/reinforced
concrete structure) and
taking into account
market data on current
construction costs
for similar properties
located in nearby cities

(SRR T ES

—RAST AL (B
18,/ B R AL B
A bt Refit B S 2
S B AR R A
2 HBEN

Economic life of buildings

—Taking into account the
estimated useful life of
buildings depending on
the building structure
(steel structure/
reinforced concrete
structure)

BF RS
— S RIRBIB T (45

18, 5 R B 4 18)
Z BT R EAEH

RMB1,902 per
square meter
(2021: RMB1,812
per square meter)
for steel structure
and RMB1,655
per square meter
(2021: RMB1,576
per square meter)
for reinforced
concrete structure

MEEAEST LK
AR #1,9027% (=
T —FEI8¥
FARAEE,812
70) SR R L A
BASTHRKAR
"1,65570 (Z
——FEI8FAXK
AR#1,5767T)

30 to 35 years
(2021: 40 to 50
years)

30E355F (&
Z——%  4J0FE504)

Annual Report 2022 FEERE

The higher the
construction costs
per square meter,
the higher the fair
value

BEHREENE
e AnEES

The longer the
economic useful
life, the higher the
fair value

KEERFHERE
AaEES
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 17. 9% - BE R &R H (&)
In other comprehensive income, fair value change of properties, plant REMEZEVAR ME BEKREZEHEZA
and equipment, net of tax comprise: AEEE NFRIBEEE !
2022 2021
—ECCH E %
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAET
Net (decrease) increase in fair value NAEZFE CFZb) 1Em (422) 11,994
Deferred tax (note 25) RIERR IS (HT5E25) 106 (2,999)
At end of year FR (316) 8,995
18. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 18. M—HaEtEZzHEx
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying values of interests in a RS- _—FR_ B _—F+_H=+—
joint venture were nil. H R—BaEtErEnlfEEAS
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had interests in the N_BE__FrR_E_—F+_BA=+—
following joint venture: H AEBERTMIEEREEG R !
Place of
incorporation Proportion of nominal Proportion of
[operation Class of value of issued capital  voting power held Principal
Name of entity Form of entity [registration shares held held by the Group by the Group activities
HEMmL/ SERRGERT SE@FE
TERE EERE g /B Fris iR R RAEEEZLAH REEZLH TEER
2022 2021 2022 2021

ZE-CF “I--F ZBIZE “T--F

Phoenix Cloud (Beijing) Technologies Incorporated PRC, limited liability ~ Ordinary 24.86% 24.86% 24.86% 24.86%  Sale and
Company Limited by share company development

of smart card
application
products in
Mainland China

BEE (57 RERABRAR Bl HE RAERAR BB REEAERS
HERBES
EFRAER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &
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—_—

F+-RA=T—HLFE

18. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

19.

The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses of the joint
venture when applying the equity method. The unrecognised share of
the joint venture, both for the year and cumulatively, is set out below:

A5 R R MY 5E

18. R—HEEEE 2z (B)

FEERKARZ AR FLEDERGS
BhEZBER - FERRFREREMGLESE
EEZEBERHEIIMT :

2022 2021
ot — —EFE_—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FBT
Unrecognised share of losses of joint venture FERBIDEEEE
for the year SEi] (56) (52)
2022 2021
—E-- —E—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FBT
Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of Rt RBRELESE X FIE
joint venture (2,318) (2,262)
INVENTORIES 20. 78
2022 2021
—EC-CH TECT—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FBT
Raw materials R A7 10,073 13,657
Work in progress FEIAL R 27,911 40,167
Finished goods SLAY iR 5,807 6,708
43,791 60,532

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of inventories was
net of impairment provisions of approximately HK$2,309,000 (2021:
HK$971,000). During the year ended 31 December 2022, provision for
inventories of HK$1,402,000 (2021: HK$667,000) has been recognised

and included in cost of sales.

RS- _—F#+_BA=+—H ' F#5NKE
BEEBEFEEENS2,309,0008 T (=
T~ —4F 1971,00087T) - BHE_ZT__
+ZB=+—HILEER > EmMA1,402,000
BT (CB - —4 667,000 T) 2 FE B E
Bt ASHE AL AR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & Bt 7% 3R 3R M 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. BAREFAEESRZENEE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021
—E-CHE —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (note i) REB LR ZRAFES (E) 1,329 1,747
Financial derivative — Foreign currency forward TRITETHR —EIEREH
contracts (note ii) (Bf =i ) - 377
1,329 2,124
Note i: B i -
During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not dispose of any listed HE_S - —FKR-ZE—E+ZHA=+—BLEEE 'K
equity securities. The fair values of all equity securities are based on their current bid prices in EBETARHETAN EHRABHF - FIBEREAEBFZAAE
an active market and the Group is exposed to price risk. HUERKXKERTH ZREAERE AEBRMEA S
BEER
Note ii: B =i :
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had the following foreign currency forward contracts. The RIBEZ—F+ZA=+—H > xEEEUTIERESE
major terms of these contracts are as follows: Mo ZFENZETERRNOT :
31 December 2021 —¥-_—%+-RA=+—H
Carrying amount Notional amount Maturity Exchange rates
REE &ERSH LGN = ] B
HK$’'000
FHT
188 Sell US$, buy RMB6,526,000 14 January 2022 US$1: RMB6.5
£ ETT BB ARK6,526,000 B2 _#—A+@A 1270 ARB6.57T
189 Sell US$, buy RMB6,544,000 24 February 2022 US$1: RMB6.5
£ ETT BB ARE6,544,000 —E-H-F=+WH 1277 ARY6.57T
During the year ended 31 December 2022, fair value gains of BE_ZE__H#+-/B=+—HHIEtEE">
HK$96,000 (2021: gains of HK$366,000) have been recognised in NAEWEFR,00087T (ZTE-—F | &
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 366,00087T) ENtREaEm R EMEEWA
income. KPR o
Details of the fair value of these investments are disclosed in note 5(c). ZEREZADEFEBRMIESC)FIRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. ES R HEMtMEWRIA
2022 2021
== — =
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TFAT
Trade receivables (note) B 5 rEaIE (fisr) 38,950 40,356
Deposits and other receivables & K HfthFE U I8 3,372 5,377
Prepayments FEIFRIE 2,946 3,530
45,268 49,263
In 2022, the Group managed its trade receivables with a business N BT AEBBEIEHE S ERKEIE

HAHEEREEMENEARETREXHE
HHREREERERNEBRN  BAILDE
BURARBEEFEEHEZIHFARMGRSIR
mHNEREE -

model whose objective was achieved by both collect contractual cash
flow and sell such financial assets. Hence, the trade receivables are
classified as financial asset at FVTOCI.

REZZ- -5 xERRAUBRNERFEE
MEBRERNEBENEEE Z BIERR
FIE DR B IR B A St BN ERIE E

In 2021, the Group managed its trade receivables with a business
model whose objective was achieved by collect contractual cash
flow and hence, trade receivables were classified as financial asset at
amortised cost.

B 7 RAEMBYRIER RS BNDTIT :

Trade and other receivables analysed for reporting purpose as:

2022 2021

—E-C BT

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Non-current assets ERBEE 335 =
Current assets MENEE 44,933 49,263
45,268 49,263

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

FEBTERZERBERAEOERS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. 5 R EMEWRIE (B)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables

At as 31 December 2022, the gross amount of trade receivable arising
from contracts with customers amounted to HK$38,950,000 (2021:
HK$40,356,000). The Group allows credit periods ranging from 30
to 90 days to its customers. The following is an aged analysis of
trade receivables presented based on the invoice date, at the end
of the reporting period. In addition, for certain customers with long-
established relationship and have good credit worthiness, a longer
credit period may be granted.

B 5% R 1A 2 RS 4R

W_E__—H+_A=+—H BER&HXK
EEZ B 5 W IE4E 38 438,950,000 7T
(ZTZ——4 : 40,356,000 7T) - AEEE
HEFEFTNFEI0EI0HZEEH - T A
RBERR IRBEZ A2 2 B 5B
HEERE DM LN MEAERBEERER
RFEE2E5TEAM= IBERTEE
ZEEH-

2022 2021

-~ B

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHEx FET

Within 30 days 30HWA 32,664 17,815
31 to 60 days 31E60H 2,924 8,885
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,705 7,723
Over 90 days B#E90H 1,657 5,933
38,950 40,356

Loss allowances for trade receivables are based on management’s
estimate of the expected credit losses to be incurred, which involved
the estimate of probability of default, loss given default and forward
looking adjustments.

Management estimated these parameters by taking into account the
credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables, customers’
repayment history and customers’ financial position and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic conditions.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the current reporting period.

No loss allowance has been made for the year ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 as the impact of the expected loss is assessed to be
insignificant. At 31 December 2022 and 2021, no trade debtor of the
Group was individually determined to be impaired.

/] 82 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4x &

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

21.

22,

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Ageing analysis of trade receivables (Continued)
Included in trade and other receivables are the following amounts

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities to which they relate:

A5 R R MY 5E

21. B 5 R HE R TRIE (8)
B 53 FE WA T 2 BRBS 53 4R (40

B 5 K E M FEWGRRIR B LUT =88 75 LAARRE
EEERZEEBINZEIEHE !

2022 2021

—E-= —m =

HK$’000 HK$’'000

T#ET FHET

us$ E7T 39,246 40,811

The directors of the Company considered that the deposit and other
receivables to be categorised as “Performing” under the Group’s
credit risk grading framework and the 12-months ECL is insignificant
taking into account the past repayment patterns of deposit and other
receivables. Thus, no impairment provision is recognised during the
year.

RABEERR Bt Rirs Kk EH MR
BZBFEEERI SOESFEERREFEER
W RAEZRIE T TH1T) 2 & I EL M FEUTRR
BURI2EREREEBEREMT EE-
It > 6 P9 3 S B S R (B 1 o

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22. W E KR IRITHEER
2022 2021
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Cash at bank and in hand ﬁﬁ&?%ﬁ§ 95,686 49,741
Pledged bank deposits BRI IRIT 177X = 47,805
Cash and bank balances Fe RIRITHEER 95,686 97,546

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

RITIREREE BIRTERA R RIS T
Be
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 435

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

22.

23.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 cash and bank balances included deposits
pledged to a bank. Deposits amounting to HK$1,305,000 (2022: nil)
were pledged to secure short-term foreign currency forward contracts
and were therefore classified as current assets. Deposits amounting
to HK$46,500,000 (2022: nil) were pledged to secure short-term bank
borrowings and were therefore classified as current assets.

As at 31 December 2021 the pledged deposits carried fixed interest
rates from 0.9% to 1.6% (2022: nil) per annum.

At 31 December 2022, cash and cash equivalents represented the
cash at bank and in hand amounting to HK$95,686,000 (2021:
HK$49,741,000).

Included in the cash and bank balances are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they relate:

RA 75 R = MY 5E

22 H& RMITLHEER (B)

RZZE_—F+_B=+—H REKIP
THGEEEREART ZER ERA
1,305,000 7T (ZB - —4F : &) BIigiR(E
AN RSN IERTRILWERES
TRENE E o 730 7/446,500,0008 T (CE-F
£ E) BIR R EA R HRIRITE A RN AL
WEREARIEE

M-S —F+-"HA=+—H>ZEBiKH
ERZEEEFZEH0INE1.6% (ZE_—
F ) o

RZB-__#+-_A=+—H RE2EES
% (ETEHE$595,686,000 7T (Z B = —4F !
49,741,000 7T) ZRTARFHEIEE

RERIRITEREEU TR UERER
BRZINEERELUINZEREHE !

2022 2021
—E-C s
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
USs$ E7T 40,559 80,665

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. B S RHMESTRIA
2022 2021
—F-C T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Trade payables B 5 ENRIE 29,714 40,962
Accruals and other payables (note i) FEstER R EMENREIE (M) 19,933 11,519
Bonus payables FEfTiRE 16,716 5,702
66,363 58,183

Note i: W

As at 31 December 2022, accruals and other payables consisted of HK$3,148,000 of salary RIBEZZHE+ZA=+—H Bt EBRAREMELTR

and wages payables (2021: HK$5,721,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payable presented based on

A5 R R MY 5E

23. BB R EMEFRIA ()

TXARBERR REZBHR2INZES

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. &S RRIBBR #e D AT ©
2022 2021
-~ B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Within 30 days 30HA 14,695 21,635
31 - 60 days 31Z260H 9,541 17,107
61 — 90 days 61FE90H 5,357 810
Over 90 days #B3B0H 121 1,410
29,714 40,962

The trade payables were due according to the terms stated in the
relevant contracts. The average credit periods are 30 days. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Included in the trade and other payables are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities:

B 5 N mIAT R IRABRE & A P 8 2 (R R E
o PHEEHAI0R - AL B ERIE R
R EEBER BRFTARNREBELREER

iRy EIHEZR AU AE A

85 KR M RIBEIE N T 25875 UABRE
EEERZIEERLUINZERE !

2022 2021
-~ BT

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TET

uss$ =75 7,722 4,483
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ_—_T _—"F+_HA=+—HIEE

24. BANK BORROWINGS 24. RITEM
2022 2021
—EZCHF s
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi# FBT
Secured P=Eiigid 33,333 64,989

The bank borrowings carry fixed interest rates of 3.7% (2021: 0.7%)
per annum.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
bank borrowings approximate to their fair values.

All of the bank borrowings are repayable within one year and contain
a repayment on demand clause as stipulated in the respective loan
agreements.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank borrowings are secured by
the Group’s buildings, land use rights and pledged bank deposits
with carrying amounts of HK$47,667,000 (2021: HK$57,683,000),
HK$7,974,000 (2021: HK$9,108,000) and nil (2021: HK$46,500,000)
respectively.

Included in the bank borrowings balance is the following amount
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of
relevant group entity:

RITERREES 7% (ZTE—F:0.7%)
B’J.EEFIan-I'E\O

ZI/N 7%$m%f TEM
BERE

ZEREEREAR

FRARITERB AR —FREE "T”EWE
FEERIHE R RE IR B ERIFR

R_EBE__#+_-_B=+—B {RTExH
AEBRBEESD B A47,667,0008 7T (T
——%£ 157,683,000 7T) ~ 7,974,000 7T
(ZB-—4 9,108,000 ) RE (Z=
——4£ 146,500,000 7T) 22 F KR L MER
TR EIRIRIRITTE AR (EIR 1 o

RITEMGFBECEU TR UERERR
BRZIEERLUN 2 G E !

2022 2021
—=—— —E-—fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT TFET

EUR BT = 18,489
usD e = 46,500
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements
thereon during the current and prior years:

4 A
777 R = |

A5 R R MY 5E

25 REMRIEAME

TYRRAFERBEFEBHED ZIELER
BaEkHEE)

Revaluation
of properties

MEE

HK$’000

F#ET

At 1 January 2021 N _—F—H—H 14,046
Charged to other comprehensive income (note 17) 1B HthZ2EUK A (HFzE17) 2,999
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 W2 _—F+_HBA=+—HBr-ZE-"F—F—H 17,045
Charged to other comprehensive income (note 17) 1B HthZ2®EU A (HzE17) (106)
At 31 December 2022 RIE2E-__F+ZH=+—H 16,939

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$121,923,000 (2021: HK$127,828,000) available to offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

The tax losses can be carried forward to offset against the taxable
profits of subsequent years. Cumulative tax losses of HK$108,542,000
(2021: HK$106,796,000) can be carried forward indefinitely while tax
losses of HK$13,381,000 (2021: HK$21,032,000) will expire as follows:

RBEEHPR  ZEBREHARBTEIER
121,923,000 7t (Z & ——4% : 127,828,000
BIT) 0 AR R E A o RS R AR F TR
JETER > B B AR TE A5 IR RE SRR A AR IE TR
THEE o

MEGEEIASNUIKEEEEEZESRR
HH o Bt M IER18108,542,0008 7T (Z =
——4 106,796,000 70) B[R HAAL &
M IEE 813,381,000/ 75 (Z T - —4F !
21,032,000/ 7T) Z ZIHAIERWT -

2022 2021
—E-C BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHB7T

Expiring in: EHAFD ¢
2022 =T - =
2023 TEC=4F 1,158 7,396
2024 jg-~dait = 12,223 13,636
Total st 13,381 21,082
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE
26. LEASES 26.1HE
() Right-of-use assets EREEE
2022 2021
—E-= —=-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBT
At 1 January n—B—H 9,886 12,123
Additions RE 2,130 -
Depreciation e (1,558) (2,480)
Exchange realignment BE 2 S 2 (887) 243
At 31 December W+ZB=+—H 9,571 9,886

As at 31 December 2022, approximately HK$7,974,000 of right-
of-use assets represents prepayment for land use rights located in
the PRC (2021: HK$9,108,000) and is amortised over 50 years on
a straight line basis.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has leased arrangement for

leased property of office premise of approximately HK$1,597,000
(2021: HK$778,000). The lease term is three years.

The additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
December 2022 amounted HK$2,130 000 (2021: nil).

1 88 Carry Wealth Holdings Limited 18 =% HRAE]

N _E__F+_A=+—H £R#
B E#7,974,0007% 7515 # B £ HhfE
HZEMZE (CZE-—4 19,108,000
BT MBHEAR A+ EREE-

MR- - _F+_A=+—H &&EH
HAEHEYERFL 51,597,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 & Bt 7% 3R 3R M 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

26. LEASES (Continued) 26. 18 (@&
(i) Lease liabilities (i) FHE&MHE
2022 2021
—E-C ———
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Non-current JERE 946 -
Current mEN 724 663
1,670 663
Amount payable under lease liabilities THEEEETZENZE
2022 2021
—FE-= —E—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET TET
Within one year —&FR 724 663
After one year but within two years —FREMEN 753 =
After two years but within five years MEBERENRN 193 =
1,670 663
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 BT ZE B REIHREERE 2 I8
months (shown under current liabilities) FIRREBAEEIET) (724) (663)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months +ZERB B EHBER ZRIE 946 =
During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions to the lease HE_Z_—_F#+_B=+—HI*F
liabilities amounted to HK$2,130 000 (2021: nil). E > fAE&EEIN2,130,0008 T (ZF
Z—F o
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (iii) RIBEPER 2 RIE
2022 2021
—E-CHF s
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FBT
Expense relating to short-term leases BREHRAEE RS 741 704
Depreciation on: MTFEIBEBZITE -
—Land use rights — TR A 247 256
—Office premises —MAEYE 1,311 2,204
Interests expense on lease liabilities HEaBEZHERX 61 78
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26. LEASES (Continued)

(iv) Others

e BRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z T __F+_F=+—HILFE

At 31 December 2021 and 2022, the Group did not have

committed lease agreement that was not yet commenced.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total cash outflows
for leases amounted to HK$1,925,000 (2021: HK$3,131,000).

26. 105 (&)
(iv) Hftth

RK_E_—FR_-_ZFB__F+_H
=t+—H ' xEETEERBRZEX

BT

BHE _ET_—_#+_-_B=+—HLE&E
E HENIRESMHAE%EA1,925,000%
7T (ZEZ—4 : 3,131,000 7T) ©

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. &%
Number of shares Amount
g E g7
2022 2021 2022 2021
ke BT —fF ko B
’000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Fig T FERT FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 SREE1ET
(2021: HK$0.1) each (CBZ—F:0.187%)
ZEBR
Authorised: ERE
At beginning and end of the year  EF) KR ER 2,000,000 2,000,000 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At beginning and end of the year E#RER 818,042 818,042 81,804 81,804
28. RESERVES 28. f# &

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement

of changes in equity.

Merger reserve

FEERAFEERBEEEZ HiERHEE)

BN R REEFHRTZET -

A

The merger reserve represents primarily the effects from change in
shareholders’ equity arising on group re-organisation and change in the
Group’s ownership interest in subsidiaries without losing control.

Properties revaluation reserve

The properties revaluation reserve represents cumulative gains and
losses arising on the revaluation of the buildings that have been
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such items will not be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 20. RS EESIFREE BB ZHIR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

TRFLAEFEREREETH 2 BEET>
ARERERIFRTEH MEBTHREEZ
BEARETREBEINARARFEERERNEER
GREREREXRTOBESKERELTHRE

BE- £33
/ﬁgzg\{ﬁ S

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash
flow statement as cash flow from financing activities.

Bank Lease
loans liabilities Total
SRITE™M HEaE it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ERT FTET FTERT
At 1 January 2021 NW_E_—F—H—H 20,013 3,012 23,025
Non-cash changes from financing HEREREZ
cash flows: EIESEE
Finance cost incurred MERER™E - 78 78
Exchange realignment R AR (1,524) - (1,524)
Financing cash flows 46,500 (2,349) 44,151
Operating cash flow - (78) (78)
At 31 December 2021 and R —F
1 January 2022 +ZB=+—8k
- _F#—HF—H 64,989 663 65,652
Non-cash changes from financing MERERELZ
cash flows: EHLEH
Recognition of right-of-use assets (note) FREEEZER () - 2,130 2,130
Finance cost incurred MEER = 61 61
Exchange realignment ERAE (1,551) - (1,551)
Financing cash flows RERERE (30,105) (1,128) (31,228)
Operating cash flow EERERE - (61) (61)
At 31 December 2022 N _E-__F#+-H=+—H 33,333 1,670 35,003
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into new lease et BE_SE__HF+_F=+—HLEE KxEH®

HAMAZIUAER SR CAREEREEER
#92,130,0008 7Tt TH B 4G R FEST ©

arrangements in respect of office premises. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$2,130,000 were recognised at the announcement of the lease.
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

31

Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel compensation, represented

RA 75 R = MY 5E

30.FIES XS
TEEEASHS

TEEEASMHE BIERARTESZH)
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remuneration of executive directors during the years, was as follows: wmH:
2022 2021
—EZCHF s
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Short-term benefits 2EARRF 6,089 2,576
Post-employment benefits BERLGEF 18 33
6,107 2,609
.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 31. AT MBKAE
COMPANY
2022 2021
—ECH s
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
[ FExT TET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERBEE
Plant and equipment R BB R 5% = =
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBABRZEE (a) - =
Amount due from a subsidiary —E B AR RN (a) 131,199 133,074
131,199 133,074
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Other receivables HhpE W zIE 1,402 1,405
Cash and bank balances REKMIRITER 1,670 1,206
3,072 2,611
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Accruals and other payables et & R H A eI =R I8 4,745 508
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) WE (B BEFRE
ASSETS (1,673) 2,103
NET ASSETS HEFE 129,526 135,177
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BExRi#E
Share capital [N 81,804 81,804
Reserves HB (b) 47,722 53,373
TOTAL EQUITY S 129,526 135,177
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BiZE —_ZE " F+_F=+—HILFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: P 5E

31. EAFMBRRAR (@)

(@) Asat 31 December 2022 and 2021, the investment in a subsidiary is fully impaired. (@ MBI FKR-ZE—EF+-A=+—H'1H—H
B A ) 2 18 B R BRI (E ©

The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The directors of the Company do not expect repayments from the subsidiary within the
next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

—ENBE AR RRBEIER RERRREREE
FABEERPERSHARES KRR+ ZEARZ
MWEABFEER-

(b)  Reserves movement of the Company b) AABEEES

Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
R {5 MR BARKR RitisH st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET F#ERT FHET
At 1 January 2021 RIZ-_—F—HF—H 217,761 147,694 (308,007) 57,448
Loss and total comprehensive BErRFELEMBZAE
expense for the year - - (4,075) (4,075)
At 81 December 2021 and K2 —F+"A=+—HBR
1 January 2022 2 -F—HF—H 217,761 147,694 (312,082) 53,373
Loss and total comprehensive BErFELEMBZ AL
expense for the year - - (4,015) (4,015)
Dividends recognised as distribution B3 & 8 2 E - - (1,636) (1,636)
At 31 December 2022 RIZ-HF+"HB=+—H 217,761 147,694 (317,733) 47,722

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of a subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange thereof.

KABZHABBRHIEFMEBAZNB AR ZHRERK
REZAAREAERBMETROZEBEZZE

Annual Report 2022 FEERE /I 48



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #x & B4 #% 3k &% Mfd 5+
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZ_—_T _—"F+_HA=+—HIEE
32. fiB AT

RoBE-—ER-_S--—HF+-g=+—
B TEWBATRBOT

32. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 and 2021
are as follows:

Issued and Percentage of
Place of Principal fully paid effective interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/ attributable Principal
Name Legal form registration operation registered capital to the Group activities
Bl ERTRER HEEREN
e EREE BaOhE TELEHE 2 3T T BREEE A TEEH
2022 2021
ZEZCZE "Z-F
Topwell Group Development Ltd Limited liability British Virgin Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
company Islands US$1,000
BRAR BREELEHS Y EiER1,000% 7T RELER
Carry Wealth Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
company HK$4,000,000
ERERAT BRAF BE BE LER RELER
4,000,000 7T
Hillwealth International Limited Limited liability Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Garment trading and
company HK$1 marketing in Hong
Kong
BRERERAF BRAF BE BE EBRIET E%%z%ﬁﬁm@
ARTGEE
Dragon Insight Investments Limited ~ Limited liability Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Securities trading in
company HK$1 Hong Kong
FHREBRAT BERAF &H &k ERRIBT REBETESR
2
Mass Wealth Investments Limited ~ Limited liability Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
company HK$1
HERERRAR BRAF BE BE EBRIET RELER
BUEEREKRERAT Limited liability PRC PRC Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture of
(Heshan Carry Wealth Garment company US$14,700,000 knit products in
Limited)* Mainland China
BUEERRERAT BERAF HZEARHNE HE AR HMNE LER R ARE AR E St
14,700,000% 7T Bk
B8 (RY) RE#XAERAT Limited liability PRC PRC Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Provision of
(Heng Feng (Shenzhen) company RMB5,000,000 consultation
Investment Consulting service in
Company Limited)* Mainland China
B8 (RY) REAABRAF BRAF HE AR EMNE HE AR HMNE EBRARE RAREA R AR
5,000,0007% R

The Company directly holds the interest in Topwell Group Development
Ltd. All other interests shown above are indirectly held by the

Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 31

&N B E B Topwell Group Development
Ltd.Z#H e EXFImTBE EMERE AR A
NEBEFE

KRB _HFrR-_F_—F+-A=+—H

December 2022 and 2021 or at any time during the year. TZKEFWEH B SENB AR FEEM
GFEEKES-
For identification purpose only (ELE: %)
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CARRY WEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEERARAT

Room 7801-7803, 78th Floor, The Center, 99 Queen's Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
EAPIREGABHI5EHIRT/8/E7801-7803F

Tel &B5E:(852) 2180 0001  Fax fEE : (852) 2122 9773

Website 4831t : www.carrywealth.com
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